

# SALIVARY FLOW AND COMPOSITION IN HEALTHY AND DISEASED ADULTS

Panu Rantonen



Helsinki 2003

Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases, Helsinki University Central Hospital, Helsinki, Finland and Oral and Maxillofacial Department / Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland

Panu Rantonen

# SALIVARY FLOW AND COMPOSITION IN HEALTHY AND DISEASED ADULTS

Academic dissertation to be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, for the public examination in the Auditorium II of the Institute of Dentistry, on June 13<sup>th</sup>, 2003, at 12 noon.

HELSINKI 2003

Supervised by

Professor Jukka H. Meurman Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki and Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases Helsinki University Central Hospital, Helsinki, Finland

Reviewed by

Docent Merja Laine Institute of Dentistry, University of Turku, Turku, Finland

Professor Markku Larmas Institute of Dentistry, University of Oulu, Oulu, Finland

Opponent

Professor Folke Lagerlöf, Karolinska Institutet, Stockholm, Sweden

# CONTENTS

Abstract		6
Abbreviations		7
Acknowledgements		8
List of original publications		10
1. Introduction		11
2. Review of literature		12
2.1. Saliva as a c	diagnostic fluid	12
2.1	1.1. The diagnostic uses of saliva	12
2.1	1.2. Diagnostic tests for normal dental practice	14
2.2. Salivary flo	W	16
2.2	2.1. Salivary glands	16
2.2	2.2. Flow rate	16
2.2	2.3. Buffering capacity of saliva	20
2.3. Salivary vis	scosity	21
2.3	3.1. Mucins	22
2.3	3.2. Proline-rich proteins	23
2.4. Salivary and	timicrobial proteins	24
2.4	4.1. Salivary immunoglobulins	24
	2.4.1.1. Induction of secretory immune responses	24
	2.4.1.2. Properties of salivary immunoglobulins	25
2.4	4.2. Nonimmunoglobulin proteins	26
	2.4.2.1. Lysozyme	26
	2.4.2.2. Peroxidase systems	26
	2.4.2.3. Lactoferrin	26
	2.4.2.4. Histatins	26
	2.4.2.5. Agglutinins	27
2.4	4.3. Salivary antimicrobial factors and oral health	27
2.5. Amylases		28
2.6. Salivary alb	umin	29
2.7. Hormones i	n saliva	30
2.7	7.1. Transportation of hormones into saliva	30
2.7	7.2. Steroid hormones in saliva	30
	2.7.2.1. Cortisol	31
2.7	7.3. Peptide hormones in saliva	31
	2.7.3.1. Growth hormone	31
2.8. Salivary ure	ea	32
3. Aims and hypotheses of the	e study	33
4. Subjects, materials and met	thods	34
4.1. Ethical cons	sideration	34
4.2. Subject grou	ups	34

	4.2.1. Patient group A (I)	34
	4.2.2. Subject group B (II-III)	35
	4.2.3. Subject group C (IV)	35
	4.2.4. Patient group D (V)	35
	4.3. Study plan	37
	4.4. Salivary samples	38
	4.5. Blood samples	38
	4.6. Buffering capacity	38
	4.7. Yeast counts	39
	4.8. Viscosity measurements	39
	4.9. Salivary laboratory analyses	39
	4.9.1. Analyses of serum and salivary cortisol concentrations	40
	4.9.2. Assay for numan growth normone in saliva, and its validati	0n40
	4.9.2.1. Kadioimmunological method	40
	4.10. Statistical analysis	41
5 Results		43
J. Results	5.1 Salivary flow buffering capacities and yeast counts (study I)	43
	5.1.1 Patients' medication	43
	5.1.2 Unstimulated saliva	44
	5 1 3 Stimulated saliva	45
	5.1.4. Saliva secretion in various medication groups	45
	5.1.5. Buffering capacity	46
	5.1.6. Salivary yeasts	47
	5.2. Salivary viscosity and flow rates of repeated samples (study II)	48
	5.2.1. Observed data	48
	5.2.2. Correlations of salivary viscosity and flow rate	49
	5.2.3. Within-subject variation and correlations across samples	49
	5.3. Proteins in repeated samples (study III)	51
	5.3.1. Observed data	51
	5.3.2. Within-subject variation and correlations across samples	55
	5.3.3. Correlations between variables	56
	5.4. Salivary cortisol and growth hormone (study IV)	57
	5.4.1. Observed data	57
	5.4.2. Correlations between serum and saliva levels	38
	5.5. Salivary albumin (study v)	01 61
	5.5.1. Patients diseases and medications	01 62
	5.5.2. Salivary data	05
6 Discussion		66
0. Discussion	6.1 Salivary flow-and the effect of medication on it (studies L II and V)	66
	6.2 Salivary buffering capacity (study I)	69
	6.3. Yeast counts (studies I and V)	70
	6.4. Salivary viscosity (study II)	71
	6.5. Salivary proteins (studies III, IV and V)	72
	6.6. Salivary cortisol and growth hormone (study IV)	75
	6.6.1. Cortisol	75
	6.6.2. Growth hormone	77
	6.7. Salivary albumin (studies III, IV and V)	78
	6.8. Salivary urea (studies IV and V)	79

6.9. Summary	80
7. Conclusions	82
8. References	83

Original publications from I to V

**Rantonen, Panu. Salivary flow and composition in healthy and diseased adults.** Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases, Helsinki University Central Hospital, Helsinki, Finland and Departments Oral and Oral and Maxillofacial Department / Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Kuopio University Hospital, Kuopio, Finland

#### ABSTRACT

The aim of this study was to evaluate different aspects of salivary diagnosis. The specific aims were to investigate salivary flow rates and yeast counts in medicated and unmedicated adult patients, and to investigate one-day hourly pattern, correlations and within-subject variations of salivary viscosities and various salivary proteins in healthy adults. Further aims were to investigate salivary concentrations of cortisol and growth hormone (GH) in saliva and correlations with respective serum concentrations, and to analyze salivary albumin concentrations in patients in an acute geriatric ward and correlate the findings to the patients' oral health parameters and systemic condition.

The results of this study underline the need to take the patients' gender and systemic medication into account in all salivary diagnoses. The observed within-subject variations in the viscosity of unstimulated saliva, salivary IgA, albumin, amylase and total protein concentrations suggest that these variables are subject to short-term variation. The results also underline the need to accurately specify the time of saliva sampling. Salivary GH concentrations were 1900-fold lower than the values in serum but a positive correlation was found between salivary and serum GH levels. Further, there were significantly higher salivary albumin concentrations and albumin outputs in the frail elderly.

# **ABBREVIATIONS:**

BALT	Bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue
Ca	Calcium
CBG	Cortisol binding protein
CI	Confidence interval
$CO_2$	Carbon dioxide
сP	CentiPoise (viscosity unit)
CV	Coefficient of variation
Da	Dalton (molecular weight unit)
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISA	Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
GALT	Gut-associated lymphoid tissue
GH	Growth hormone
$H^+$	Hydrogen ion
$HCO_3^{-}$	Bicarbonate ion
$H_2CO_3$	Carbonic acid
$HPO_4^2$	Secondary phosphate ion
IDDM	Insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus
IgA/G/E/D	Immunoglobulin A/G/E/D
IIC	Inter-item correlation
Κ	Potassium
Mab	Monoclonal antibody
MALT	Mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue
MANOVA	Multivariate analysis of variance
MG1	High-molecular- weight mucin
MG2	Low-molecular-weight mucin
MUC1/4/7	Mucin 1/4/7
MUC5b	Mucin 5b
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
Na	Sodium
N.S.	Not significant
OR	Odds ratio
PRPs	Proline-rich proteins
RIA	Radioimmunoassay
SS	Primary Sjögren's syndrome
SC	Secretory component
SD	Standard deviation
SE	Standard error
SIgA/M	Secretory immunoglobulin A/M
ξ	Viscosity
V	Shear rate
θ	Shear stress

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work started at the Department of Cariology and Preventive Dentistry, Institute of Dentistry, University of Kuopio, and the Department of Clinical Chemistry, Kuopio University Hospital, and finished at the Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, during the years 1994-2002. These series of studies were done in very difficult circumstances. Dental education in Finland was changing dramatically in the 1990s, when two dental schools out of four were closed. Luckily Turku was only partly closed. I have to admit that carrying out dental research at the University of Kuopio in those times was far from easy! Much of my time and energy was taken up by teaching at the University Dental Clinic 1995-1998. I found this interesting, but it meant that little time was left for research. After that I continued to practice my profession as a private dentist. However, I didn't want to leave the promising research project, so I continued it after a while at the University of Helsinki.

It is a great pleasure to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Jukka Meurman, D.D.S., M..D., Ph.D., for introducing to me the fascinating world of dental and medical research. I will always remember his support and guidance throughout the work. I am very grateful for his valuable advice during the long and difficult years of the research projects, and I have also greatly enjoyed the casual conversations with him during our leisure time.

I wish to express my thanks to Professor Emeritus Ilkka Penttilä, M..D., Ph.D., for his support and help during this work, and for providing me with research facilities after the Institute of Dentistry was closed down in 1998. I am also grateful to Dr. Kari Savolainen, Ph.D., and to Mr. Tero Hongisto, who helped and supported me in the field of clinical chemistry. I also want to thank Ms. Tuula Helenius, M.Sc., for her excellent path-breaking work with salivary growth hormone analysis.

My sincere thanks are due to the official referees, Professor Markku Larmas, D.D.S, Ph.D., and Dr. Merja Laine, D.D.S., Ph.D., for their constructive comments and criticism and advice during the preparation of this thesis.

I am very grateful to Mr. Pekka Alakuijala, M.Sc., Ms. Sirpa Keinänen, M.Sc., Ms. Arja Korhonen and Ms. Anita Nuutinen for their work and friendly help in the salivary research laboratory. I also wish to thank Dr. Anu Häyrinen, D.D.S., for her valuable work and help in the repeated-measures study.

I owe my warm thanks to colleagues and co-workers in the field of salivary research at Kuopio University Dental Clinic, Dr. Markku Qvarnström, D.D.S. and Dr. Hanna Pajukoski, D.D.S., for

9

sharing joys and sorrows during the first years of our research projects. I wish them all the best with their on-going studies. I also wish to thank the personnel of the Institute of Dentistry in Kuopio for their help and enthusiastic attitude towards this research.

I owe my thanks to Ms. Marjo Kostia for her secretarial work with the manuscripts. I am also very grateful to Ms. Paula Paqvalin for her understanding and valuable advice with all the bureaucracy involved.

My sincere thanks to my current chiefs of the Department of Oral and Maxillofacial diseases in Kuopio University Hospital, Dr. Matti Lamberg, D.D.S., M.D., Ph.D., and Dr. Helena Forss, D.D.S., Ph.D., for their understanding and continuous support during the writing of this thesis. I also owe my deep gratitude to the whole personnel of the Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases at Kuopio University Hospital for the friendly atmosphere and help during my resident time.

I want to thank my colleagues and staff in private dental clinics in Kuopio and Tampere. I also owe my thanks to all my friends from schools, music circles and elsewhere, who have supported and encouraged me throughout my work.

I express my deep gratitude to my dear parents, Tyyni and Tauno, who have given their love and support throughout my life and who have taught me to appreciate learning and education. I also warmly thank my two brothers and their families and my in-laws, for their support and many joyful moments during the years.

Finally, I want to thank my family, Arja, Karin and Orel. You have brought joy to my life. This work was financially supported by the Finnish Dental Society, the Acta Odontologica Scandinavica Foundation, the Pohjois-Savo Dental Society and the Päivikki and Sakari Sohlberg Foundation, which I acknowledge with gratitude .

Kuopio, November 2002

Panu Rantonen

# LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS:

The papers are referred to in the text by these Roman numerals.

I.	Meurman J.H., Rantonen P.: Salivary flow rate, buffering capacity, and yeast counts in 187 consecutive adult patients from Kuopio, Finland. Scand J Dent Res 102: 229-34, 1994.
II.	Rantonen P.J.F, Meurman J.H.: Viscosity of whole saliva. Acta Odont Scand 56: 210-14, 1998.
III.	Rantonen P.J.F., Meurman J.H.: Correlations between total protein, lysozyme, immunoglobulins, amylase, and albumin in stimulated whole saliva during daytime. Acta Odont Scand 58: 160-65, 2000.
IV.	Rantonen P.J.F., Penttilä I., Meurman J.H, Savolainen K., Närvänen S., Helenius T.: Growth hormone and cortisol in serum and saliva. Acta Odont Scand 58: 299-303, 2000.
V.	Meurman JH., Rantonen P., Pajukoski H., Sulkava R.: Salivary albumin and other constituents and their relation to oral and general health in the elderly. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 94: 432-38, 2002.

This thesis also contains unpublished data.

Article I is reproduced with permission from Munksgaard. Articles II, III and IV are reproduced with permission from Taylor & Francis AS. Article V is reproduced with permission from Elsevier Science.

# **1. INTRODUCTION**

A growing number of dental and medical doctors are finding that saliva provides an easily available, noninvasive diagnostic medium for a rapidly widening range of diseases and clinical situations (Mandel, 1990). Saliva is the principal defensive factor in the mouth, and a reduction in its flow rate affects orodental health. A reduced salivary flow may cause a variety of mostly unspecific symptoms and so the establishment of patients' saliva flow is of primary importance in oral medicine and dentistry. Salivary hypofunction is associated with oral and pharyngeal disorders and requires early diagnosis and intervention (Ghezzi et al., 2000).

It is important to establish reference flow rates in various populations (Mandel, 1993). Problems in clinical salivary diagnosis are mainly due to non-standardized collection procedures, further difficulties in interpretation caused by the great diurnal variation of salivary secretion, and individual differences in general. It is well-known that secretion may greatly vary in an individual, and if repeated samples are taken at different time points varying on flow rate results will be obtained (Dawes, 1987).

Moreover, clinical practice and recommendations for salivary diagnosis vary between centers. Unfortunately, saliva sampling has not yet become a routine in dental offices. It has also been claimed that no global consensus has been reached with regard to the terminology of the dry mouth, creating a substantial problem for research, education, diagnosis and therapy (Nederfors, 2000). International ICD-10 classification of diseases and "Application of the International Classification of Diseases to Dentistry and Stomatology" (ICD-DA) has considerably improved this situation (WHO, 1995).

The present series of studies were conducted in order to shed some more light on clinical salivary diagnosis. Both healthy subjects and diseased patients were investigated.

# **2. REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### 2.1. SALIVA AS A DIAGNOSTIC FLUID

#### 2.1.1. The diagnostic uses of saliva

Salivary diagnosis is an increasingly important field in dentistry, physiology, internal medicine, endocrinology, pediatrics, immunology, clinical pathology, forensic medicine, psychology and sports medicine (Mandel, 1993). A growing number of drugs, hormones and antibodies can be reliably monitored in saliva, which is an easily obtainable, non-invasive diagnostic medium (Mandel, 1980; Mandel, 1990; Smith et al., 1991; Tabak, 2001). Thus, salivary diagnosis is anticipated to be particularly useful in cases where repeated samples of body fluid are needed but where drawing blood is impractical, unethical, or both. Salivary concentrations of drugs and hormones also represent the free fractions of serum in many instances, with good correlations with the respective total concentrations in serum (Westenberg et al., 1978; Cook et al., 1987; Read, 1989; Kirschbaum and Hellhammer, 1989; Hofman, 2001).

Assays of steroid hormones from saliva are widely used and well validated (Lac, 2001), providing an unstressful sampling instead of venipuncture. Multiple specimens of saliva for steroid hormone analysis can be easily collected by the patient, at home, to monitor fertility cycles, menopausal fluctuations, stress and other diurnal variations (Hofman, 2001). Also, some hormones other than steroids have been found to be reflective of their plasma levels and could be considered for salivary monitoring.

Salivary antibody levels can be determined to screen for infectious diseases. Anti-HIV antibody immunocapture assays have also been developed and tested for saliva, which could be useful in high-risk groups under field conditions in developing countries (Pasquier et al., 1997). Salivary assays have been used for monitoring of hepatitis A, B and C, measles, Epstain-Barr virus, rubella, parvovirus B 19, human herpesvirus 6, *Helicobacter pylori* and rotavirus infection (Mandel, 1990; Madar et al., 2002). In addition to measuring antibody, it is possible to identify a number of viral antigens in saliva, for example mumps and cytomegalo virus. Saliva has also proven to be a convenient source of host and microbial DNAs (Tabak, 2001).

There has been growing interest in the use of saliva in pharmacokinetic studies of drugs and in therapeutic drug monitoring in a variety of clinical situations. It has been suggested that drug levels in saliva reflect the free, non-protein-bound portion in plasma and hence may have a greater therapeutic implication than the total blood levels (Mandel, 1990). Lipid solubility is a determining

factor in saliva excretion of drugs, and the degree of acidity and basicity of a drug will determine its salivary/plasma ratio. The salivary flow rate, pH, sampling conditions, contamination and many other pathophysiological factors may influence the concentrations of drugs in saliva (Liu and Delgado, 1999). Drugs currently monitored in saliva include anticonvulsants, theophylline, salicylate, digoxin, anti-arrhythmic drugs, lithium, benzodiazepines, amitriptyline, chlorpromazine, methadone, ethanol, marijuana, cocaine and caffeine (Knott, 1989; Liu and Delgado, 1999). It has become apparent that many systemic diseases affect salivary gland function and salivary composition. Studies of the effects of systemic diseases on salivary variables have been valuable in understanding the pathogenesis of the diseases, but their use as diagnostic markers has been limited. Primary Sjögren's syndrome (SS) is a common autoimmune disorder characterized by generalized desiccation, exocrine hypofunction and serologic abnormalities. More than 90% of the patients are women, and one of the main diagnostic procedures is biopsy of the minor salivary glands of the lip. It has been suggested that whole saliva flow rate (Sreebny and Zhu, 1996) and gland-specific sialometry and sialochemistry (Kalk et al., 2002) could be used to provisionally diagnose SS. In SS, salivary glands are indeed affected, resulting in a diminished salivary flow. It has been suggested that diminished output of salivary defense factors, rather than their absolute concentrations, may be related to the oral health problems seen in SS patients (van der Reijden et al., 1996).

Cystic fibrosis affects all of the exocrine glands to varying degrees (Ferguson, 1999). The most dramatic changes in the composition of saliva reported have been an elevation in calcium (Ca) and proteins, and this reduces the flow rate of minor salivary glands to virtually zero. Normally the flow rate of single labial gland is 0.1 µl/min (Ferguson, 1999). This phenomenon can be used as a diagnostic test by measuring the flow from labial glands of the lower lip (Mandel, 1990). The sodium (Na) and potassium (K) concentrations of saliva are markedly affected by corticosteroids, especially aldosterone. The Na/K ratio of stimulated whole saliva can be used in diagnosing and monitoring Cushing's syndrome and Addison's disease. Investigators have also demonstrated the diagnostic value of Na/K ratio in primary aldosteronism (Wotman et al., 1969). In several clinical situations salivary analysis has provided valuable information for both the clinician and the investigator. These situations include digitalis toxicity, affective disorders, stomatitis in chemotherapy, specific secretory IgA deficiency, smoking, ovulation time, relation of dietary factors to cancer and chronic pain syndromes (Mandel, 1990; Fischer et al., 1998). Human saliva contains a large number of enzymes derived from the salivary glands, oral microorganisms, crevicular fluid, epithelial cells, and other sources. However, the use of whole saliva enzymes for diagnostic purposes has been more difficult than the use of serum enzymes. It

has been difficult to standardize saliva collection methods and enzyme analytical procedures so that direct comparisons between different laboratories would be possible (Mäkinen, 1989). Interpretation of results has also proved to be difficult. However, various studies have been made to find correlations between diseases or clinical situations and salivary enzyme levels.

Saliva is essential for alimentation, remineralization of teeth, and the protection and lubrication of oral mucosal tissues (Mandel, 1989). Measurement of the patient's saliva flow is of primary importance in oral medicine and dentistry (Ghezzi et al., 2000). For many years dental investigators have been exploring changes in salivary flow rate and composition as a means of diagnosing and monitoring a number of oral diseases. It has even been suggested that analysis of saliva may also offer a cost-effective approach to the assessment of periodontal diseases in populations (Kaufman and Lamster, 2000), even though no specific salivary marker of periodontal disease activity has been found so far.

A great number of studies with conflicting results have been published regarding various individual salivary agents and their possible association with oral health, particularly dental caries (Kirstilä et al., 1998). However, it appears that no single chemical agent is much more important than others. Many of the various defense factors show additive or even synergistic interactions against oral pathogens (Tenovuo, 1998).

#### 2.1.2. Diagnostic tests for normal dental practice

Saliva is well adapted to protection against dental caries. The buffering capacity of saliva, the ability of saliva to wash the tooth surfaces and to control demineralization and mineralization, the antibacterial activity of saliva and perhaps other mechanisms all contribute to its essential role in the health of the teeth. Knowledge of the functional properties of saliva and of its separate components may permit a better assessment of dental caries susceptibility (Dowd, 1999).

Measurement of salivary flow is an invaluable diagnostic tool in determining the prognosis of alternative treatment plans (Strahl et al., 1990). In modern dental practice, diagnostic salivary measurements, at least salivary secretion rate and buffering capacity, should be used to supplement the anamnestic information and clinical findings with regard to prevention of dental caries. In order to gain reliable standardized results from the diagnostic tests, detailed instructions should be provided and followed by the dentist and patient (Tenovuo and Lagerlöf, 1994).

However, since caries lesions are the result of a multifactorial disease, assessment of a few salivary factors is not sufficient unless they are of overriding importance, which may occur in an individual patient (Birkhed and Heintze, 1989). Salivary bacterial counts, for example mutans streptococci and lactobacillus dip slide tests, are widely used in clinical practice in caries risk assessment. The current tests may be useful for estimating caries activity due to bad dietary habits, and establishing the

presence of infection and salivary yeasts for the determination of the patient's medical condition (Larmas, 1992). However, these tests may be limited in their applicability in the assessment of caries activity and in caries prediction (van Palenstein Helderman et al., 2001; Pinelli et al., 2001). However, they can be effective in a group of persons with high or low caries experience (Bowden, 1997).

Mutans streptococci are acidogenic and aciduric, and can produce extracellular glucans and adhere to tooth surfaces. Several methods are available to measure the levels of mutans streptococci in saliva and in plaque. The so-called 'Strip Mutans<sup>™</sup> test' is based on the ability of mutans streptococci to grow on hard surfaces, and it has been developed for chair-side use (Jensen and Bratthall, 1989). Other chair-side tests have also been developed (Bratthall and Ericsson, 1994).

Lactobacilli are associated with caries. They are more dependent on retentive sites being available in high numbers, and hence lactobacillus counts have been used to predict the increment of new caries lesions (Smith et al., 2001). The standard laboratory method of determining the number of lactobacilli includes the use of selective medium, Rogosa SL-agar. Chair-side methods for lactobacilli have also been developed, since the 'Dentocult<sup>TM</sup>LB' method in 1975 (Larmas, 1975).

Yeasts, mainly *Candida albicans*, are commensals of the oral cavity in the majority of adult patients but many diseases may predispose to their dissemination (Odds, 1988). Mucosal surfaces are the primary oral reservoir for this microorganism, but dental plaque or prostheses can also harbor it (Cannon and Chaffin, 1999). Candidal colonization has been demonstrated in periodontal pockets, refractory periodontitis and failing dental implants (Pizzo et al., 2002). The emergence of *Candida albicans* may also occur as a result of the use of antibiotics or radiotherapy. In a review by Odds (1988) the prevalence of yeasts in saliva in healthy persons was stated to be 37%. In denture wearers yeasts may be cultivated from 85% of the subjects (Vandenbussche and Swinne, 1983).

In a study by Parvinen and Larmas (1981) on 1105 adults over 30 years of age the frequency of positive yeast counts was 59% in all subjects. From unmedicated subjects (n = 642) with full dentures (n = 104), 82% of women and 78% of men had salivary yeasts, whereas their incidence in subjects with complete dentition (n = 174) was 55% in women and 33% in men (Parvinen, 1984). In a study of the elderly by Närhi et al. (1992) the respective figure was 75% in all subjects. A chairside method, 'Oricult ®', has been developed for detecting yeasts (Nicherson agar) in the mucous membranes and saliva.

It has recently been shown that low secretion rate of saliva and the high scores of lactobacilli and *Streptococcus mutans* have a significant influence on complications of fixed metal ceramic bridge prostheses and this should be taken into consideration in choosing patients for prosthetic treatment with fixed prosthodontics (Näpänkangas et al., 2002). Since salivary flow and its composition is essential in the protection and lubrication of oral mucosal tissues, salivary tests have also significant predictive

value in prosthodontic treatment planning. Successful management of complete and removable partial dentures is complicated by a reduction in salivary flow (Massad and Cagna, 2002). It has been suggested that salivary tests should be performed and analyzed before planning an extensive and expensive restorative therapy or orthodontic treatment (Birkhed and Heintze, 1989) and on a routine basis with geriatric patients (Strahl et al., 1990).

#### 2.2. SALIVARY FLOW

#### 2.2.1. Salivary glands

The major salivary glands are the parotid glands, submandibular glands and sublingual glands. Minor salivary glands are situated on the tongue, palate, and buccal and labial mucosa. They are small mucosal glands with primarily a mucous secretion (Ferguson, 1999).

The working part of the salivary gland tissue consists of the secretory end pieces (acini) and the branched ductal system. The fluid first passes through intercalated ducts which have low cuboidal epithelium and narrow lumen. Then the secretions enter the striated ducts which are lined by more columnal cells with many mitochondria. Finally the saliva passes through the excretory ducts where the cell type is cuboidal with stratified squamous epithelium (Whelton, 1996).

The acinar cells first secrete isotonic primary saliva and then the striated duct cells actively extract ions to render the saliva progressively more hypotonic as it passes down the ducts towards the mouth (Smith, 1996).

#### 2.2.2. Flow rate

Diminished salivary output can have deleterious effects on oral and systemic health (Navazesh et al., 1992a; Atkinson and Wu, 1994). Unstimulated whole saliva is the mixture of secretions which enter the mouth in the absence of exogenous stimuli such as tastants or chewing. Several studies of unstimulated saliva flow rates in healthy individuals have found the average value for whole saliva to be about 0.3 ml/min. Values below 0.1 ml/min are considered as hyposalivation, and values between 0.1-0.25 ml/min low (Tenovuo and Lagerlöf, 1994). The normal range is very large and includes individuals with very low flow rates who do not complain of a dry mouth (Ship et al., 1991; Dawes, 1996). There is significant difference between genders in unstimulated flow rates (Dawes, 1996) . Xerostomia (dry mouth) is the subjective feeling of oral dryness. It is generally accompanied by salivary gland hypofunction and a severe reduction in the secretion of unstimulated whole saliva (Sreebny, 1989), but xerostomia is not necessarily reflected in the actually measured flow rates (Nederfors et al., 1997).

Studies	Saliva	Sample number	Mean (ml/min)	SD
Andersson et al. (1974)	Whole	100	0.39	0.21
Becks and Wainwright (1943)	Whole	661	0.32	0.23
Heintze et al. (1983)	Whole	629	0.31	0.22
Närhi et al. (1992) (unmedicated elderly)	Whole	72	0.17	0.16

Table 1. Studies of unstimulated whole saliva flow rates (ml/min) in healthy individuals (Närhi et al., 1992; Dawes 1996).

Unstimulated saliva is usually collected with the patient sitting quietly, with the head bent down and mouth open to allow the saliva to drip from the lower lip into a sampling tube (the so-called draining method). The other most commonly used techniques for measuring unstimulated saliva are the spitting method, suction method and swab method (Birkhed and Heintze, 1989).

The factors affecting unstimulated saliva flow rate are degree of hydration, body position, exposure to light, previous stimulation, circadian rhythms, circannual rhythms, and drugs. Less important factors are age, body weight, psychic effects, and functional stimulation (Dawes, 1987).

Widely accepted normal values for stimulated flow rates are 1.0 - 3.0 ml/min. Values below 0.7 ml/min are considered as hyposalivation, and values 0.7 - 1.0 ml/min low (Tenovuo and Lagerlöf, 1994).

Studies	Saliva	Stimulus	Sample	Mean (ml/min)	SD
Heintze					
et al. (1987)	Whole	Paraffin wax	629	1.6	2.1
(healthy adults)					
Närhi					
et al. (1992)	Whole	Paraffin wax	72	1.49	0.92
(unmedicated elderly)					
Parvinen					
and Larmas					
(1981)	Whole	Paraffin wax	642	1.87	0.81
(unmedicated adults)					
Shannon					
and Frome	Whole	Chewing gun	n 200	1.7	0.6
(1973)					
(healthy adults)					

Table 2. Studies of stimulated whole saliva flow rates in healthy subjects (Parvinen and Larmas, 1981; Närhi et al., 1992; Dawes, 1996).

Stimulated saliva is secreted in response to either masticatory or gustatory stimulation, or to other less common stimuli such as activation of the vomiting centre. A wide variation among individuals has been found (Ghezzi et al., 2000). Men have higher flow rates than women (Parvinen and Larmas, 1981). The factors affecting the flow of stimulated saliva are nature of stimulus, vomiting, smoking, gland size, gag reflex, olfaction, unilateral stimulation, and food intake (Dawes, 1996). Reduced salivary flow may cause a variety of mostly unspecific symptoms to the patient, so the establishment of salivary flow rates is of primary importance in oral medicine and dentistry (Ghezzi et al., 2000). Saliva influences caries attacks mainly by its rate of flow and its fluoride content. The

salivary flow rate influences to a high degree the rate of oral and salivary clearance of bacterial substrates (Lagerlöf and Oliveby, 1994).

However, there are no uniformly accepted reference values for saliva, and clinical practice and recommendations for salivary diagnosis vary between centers. The amount of saliva in the mouth is not constant and varies within a person over time and between individuals (Ship et al., 1991). It has been shown that it is important to standardize the sampling intervals when salivary flow rates are studied (Laine et al., 1999). The standardized collection of saliva is most important to obtain reliable results (Tenovuo and Lagerlöf, 1994). Variation in individual flow rates can be as high as 50% over a 24-hour period due to circadian rhythms (Ferguson and Botchway, 1979), and have been reported to exceed 50% in cross-sectional healthy population studies (Ship et al., 1991). Normal variations have been shown to be age- and gender-independent (Fischer and Ship, 1999).

Several studies have been made to evaluate the role of aging in salivary flow. Basically, there seems to be no age-related decrease in salivary flow rates (Baum, 1981; Parvinen and Larmas, 1982; Thorselius et al., 1988), but medication is one of the main factors causing reduced salivary flow (Strahl at al., 1990; Persson et al., 1991), also in the elderly (Närhi et al., 1992). However, diminished resting salivary flow in unmedicated healthy elderly subjects has been found in one study (Percival et al., 1994).

Many investigators have attempted to establish normal ranges or "cut-off" values to distinguish normal from abnormal salivary function (Ghezzi et al., 2000). A value of 0.1 ml/min has been suggested as the lower limit of normal unstimulated whole saliva output (Sreebny and Valdini, 1988). On the other hand, it has been shown in one study that healthy persons in the lowest 10<sup>th</sup> percentile of major salivary gland flow rates had oral health similar to that of those in the highest 10<sup>th</sup> percentile (Ship et al., 1991). Single measurement of salivary flow rate may be insufficient to determine how much saliva is necessary to maintain oral health in particular individual (Dawes, 1987; Ship et al., 1991).

There are multiple causes of salivary hypofunction, including oral disorders, systemic diseases, prescription and non-prescription medications, chemotherapy, head and neck radiotherapy, psychogenic factors and decreased mastication (Sreebny 1989; Sreebny and Schwartz, 1997; Ship et al., 1999; Ghezzi et al., 2000). The most common cause of salivary gland hypofunction is the intake of medicaments, over 400 hundred of which possess the ability to diminish the flow of saliva. These have been identified and listed thoroughly in "Reference guide to drugs and dry mouth" (Sreebny and Schwartz, 1986; Sreebny and Schwartz, 1997). The feeling of dryness increases with the number of drugs taken per day, but drugs usually do not cause permanent damage to the structure of the salivary glands (Sreebny, 1989). Clinically, the most important classes of drugs that continuously diminish the

flow of saliva are antidepressants, anticholinergics, diuretics and antihypertensive agents, and psychofarmaca (Parvinen et al., 1984; Strahl et al., 1990).

#### 2.2.3. Buffering capacity of saliva

Salivary buffering capacity is important in maintaining a pH level in saliva and plaque. The buffer capacity of unstimulated and stimulated whole saliva involves three major buffer systems (Bardow et al., 2000). The most important buffering system in saliva is the carbonic acid / bicarbonate system. The dynamics of this system is complicated by the fact that it involves the gas carbon dioxide dissolved in the saliva (Tenovuo and Lagerlöf, 1994). The complete simplified equilibrium is as follows:

# $CO_2 + H_2 O \diamond H_2 CO_3 \diamond HCO_3^- + H^+$

The increased carbonic acid concentration will cause more carbon dioxide to escape from the saliva. The saliva bicarbonate increases the pH and buffer capacity of saliva, especially during stimulation (Bardow et al., 2000).

The second buffering system is the phosphate system, which contributes to some extent to the buffer capacity at low flow rate. The mechanism for the buffering action of inorganic phosphate is due to the ability of the secondary phosphate ion,  $HPO_4^{2^-}$ , to bind a hydrogen ion and form an  $H_2PO_4^{-}$ -ion.

The third buffering system is the protein system. In the low range of pH the buffering capacity of saliva is due to the macromolecules (proteins) containing H-binding sites (Tenovuo and Lagerlöf, 1994).

The bicarbonate concentration is strongly dependent on secretion rate (Birkhed and Heitze, 1989). Since bicarbonate is the chief determinant of the buffer capacity, there is an interrelationship between pH, secretion rate and salivary buffering capacity.

Various methods have been used to measure the salivary buffer capacity, including titration under oil, titration while open to air and titration with CO2 (Bardow et al., 2000). Values obtained for buffer capacity in different studies are not comparable. However, final pHs under 3.5 for unstimulated saliva and 4.0 for stimulated saliva are considered low (Tenovuo and Lagerlöf, 1994). From a practical point of view, the Dentobuff method has been developed to assess the buffering capacity in dental practice. Based on the color change of the indicator paper, the buffering capacity is assessed in comparison with a color chart. The Dentobuff method to assess the salivary buffering capacities has been shown to be valid (Ericson and Bratthall, 1989).

#### 2.3. SALIVARY VISCOSITY

The lubricating action of saliva is important for oral health. It facilitates the movements of the tongue and the lips during swallowing and eating and is important for clearly articulated speech (Waterman et al., 1988). The efficacy of saliva as a lubricant depends on its viscosity and how it

changes with shear rate. The shear rate can obtain high values, e.g. 160 and 60 1/s during speaking and swallowing, respectively (Waterman et al., 1988).

Tribology is the science and practice of friction, lubrication, and wear applied to surfaces in relative motion (Schwarz, 1987). Rheology is the science associated with the deformation of materials subjected to stresses and forces. The rheological aspect includes viscosity and viscoelasticity (Aguirre et al., 1989). Saliva possesses specific rheological properties as a result of its chemical, physical and biological characteristics, these properties being essential for maintaining balanced conditions within the oral cavity.

A Newtonian viscous fluid is defined a fluid where the stress is linearly related to the rate-of-strain. However, there is a large group of materials (such as polymers, emulsions, and suspensions) and biomaterials, such as saliva, which cannot be described by simple elastic or viscous rheological models (Schwarz, 1987). It has been reported that the viscosity ( $\xi$ ) (the ratio between shear rate vand shear stress  $\vartheta$ ) of saliva depends on shear rate and on time, so that saliva can be classified as a non-Newtonian fluid (Roberts, 1982; Schwarz, 1987; Van der Reijden et al., 1993). The shearthinning nature of saliva has several useful functions: for example, draining of the saliva from surfaces is reduced and saliva appears to be thin during manipulations.

It is assumed that the rheological properties of human saliva may be due to the salivary glycoproteins, mainly the high-molecular-weight mucins (MG1), which are secreted by the sublingual, submandibular and palatal glands. Differences in viscoelasticity between submandibular and sublingual salivas are not due to the differences in mucin concentrations in those secretions, but rather to mucin species (van der Reijden et al., 1993).

The significance of the viscosity of saliva in general has been the subject of many studies in odontology (Ericsson and Stjernström, 1951). It has been found that salivary viscosity is greatly influenced by pH and calcium (Nordbo et al., 1984). Increased salivary viscosity may also be associated with an increase in dental caries, although it is difficult to examine flow rate and viscosity independently from each other (Biesbrock et al., 1992). The apparent viscosity contributes to the rheological properties of saliva, and the elastic properties could be important as well (van der Reijden et al., 1993). Salivary viscosity is also suggested to contribute to denture retention. Retention of dentures is a dynamic issue dependent on the control of the flow of the interposed fluid and thus its viscosity and film thickness. In this, the most important concerns are good base adaptation and border seal of the prosthesis, so that full advantage is taken of the saliva flow-related effects (Darwell and Clark, 2000). Alterations in salivary composition appear to be reflected in its viscosity and in oral complaints (Chimenos-Kustner and Marques-Soares, 2002). Until the 1970s most rheological measurements of saliva were made with the Ostwald-type U-type viscometer or its modifications (Waterman et al, 1988). Since then the Weissenberg rheogoniometer has been used, measuring the dynamic viscosity ( $\xi$ ') and storage modulus (G') as functions of frequency (Schwarz, 1987). Oscillating rheometers and cone/plate microviscometers have also been used in viscosity measurements (Van der Reijden et al, 1993; Rantonen and Meurman, 1998). However, the phenomenon of a protein layer adsorbed at the air-liquid interface necessitated reinterpretation of the previous results (Levine et al., 1987a; Waterman et al, 1988; Mellema et al., 1992). The adsorbed layer at the saliva- air interface rises rapidly and after a definite time reaches thicknesses (100 nm) which are often larger than usual for protein solutions (<20 nm). Using the results of these studies as a framework for the development of saliva substitutes that mimic saliva rheologically, it is plausible to look for high molecular protein solutions that show rapid adsorption at the air-solution interface and form layers with complex shear moduli and flow behavior in the same range as determined for real saliva (Mellema et al., 1992). It has also been suggested that film-forming capacity of saliva substitutes is an important property to be considered in the exploration of clinically effective artificial salivas (Christersson et al., 2000).

#### 2.3.1. Mucins

Human salivary mucins have a multifunctional role in the oral cavity in that they lubricate oral surfaces, provide a protective barrier between underlying hard and soft tissues and the external environment, and aid in mastication, speech and swallowing (Tabak, 1995). The high-molecular-weight mucin (MG1) and the low-molecular-weight mucin (MG2) have been isolated and characterized biochemically as glycoproteins (Levine et al., 1987b). Mucins have been intensively studied, and much has been learned about their biochemical properties and their interactions with oral micro-organisms and other salivary proteins (Offner and Troxler, 2000).

Mucins lack the precise folded structure possessed by many globular serum proteins. They tend to be asymmetrical molecules with an open randomly organized structure, consisting of a polypeptide backbone with carbohydrate side-chains. These molecules are hydrophilic and entrain much water (Hay and Bowen, 1996).

MG1 (predominantly mucins MUC5b and MUC4) and MG2 (product of a MUC7 gene) are the predominant mucins in human saliva, providing lubrication and antimicrobial protection for oral tissues (Baughan et al., 2000). MG1 is present in the mucous acini of submandibular, sublingual, labial and palatine salivary glands (Nielsen et al., 1996). The site of MG2 synthesis is controversial, in mucous acini in both submandibular and labial salivary glands (Cohen et al., 1991), and in serous acini in submandibular, sublingual, labial, and palatine salivary glands (Nielsen et al., 1996). In situ

hybridization studies have revealed a similar distribution of MUC7 mRNAs in mucous acinar cells of major and minor salivary glands (Khan et al., 1998).

These two major mucins create an enormous repertoire of potential binding sites for microorganisms at one of the major portals where infectious organisms enter the body (Thomsson et al., 2002). MUC5b is one of four gel-forming mucins which exist as multimeric proteins with molecular weights greater than 20-40 billion Da. Membrane-bound mucins are another class of mucin molecules which exist both in secreted and membrane-bound forms (e.g. MUC1 and MUC4) (Offner and Troxler, 2000). Recently, capture ELISAs have been developed for measurement of MG1 and MG2 in whole saliva (Rayment et al., 2000).

#### 2.3.2. Proline-rich proteins (PRPs)

Human salivary PRPs constitute a significant fraction of the total salivary protein and have important biological activities (Hay et al., 1994). PRPs are inhibitors of calcium phosphate crystal growth. Almost all crystal growth inhibition by PRPs is due to the first 30 residues at the negatively charged amino-terminal end of the molecule (Hay and Bowen, 1996). PRPs are present in the initially formed acquired pellicle, and have been reported to be present also in mature pellicles (Lamkin et al., 1996). It has also been shown that PRPs adsorbed onto hydroxyapatite are strong promoters of adhesion of many common bacteria (Gibbons and Hay, 1989; Douglas, 1994; Carlen et al., 1998; Li et al., 2001). The molecular structures of the PRPs are highly asymmetrical. The PRP molecule is thought to bind to tooth surfaces via its amino-terminal segment. This leaves the carboxy-terminal region of the molecule, directed to the oral cavity, free to interact with oral bacteria.

Several salivary glycoproteins, including the proline-rich glycoproteins and mucins, have lubricatory roles in saliva, and the carbohydrate moieties of these molecules also affect their lubricating properties (Aguirre et al., 1989).

Salivary proline-rich proteins may act as defense against tannins by forming complexes with them and thereby preventing their interaction with other biological compounds and absorption from the intestinal track (Lu and Bennick, 1998).

#### 2.4. SALIVARY ANTIMICROBIAL PROTEINS

#### 2.4.1. Salivary immunoglobulins

Salivary secretory immunoglobulins (sIgA and sIgM) originate from immune cells which home to the salivary glands, and are produced as a host response to an antigenic stimulus (Brandtzaeg, 1989). The immunoglobulins may be directed at specific bacterial molecules, including cell surface molecules such as adhesins, or against enzymes. By binding to such molecules, adhesion of specific bacteria to oral surfaces may be blocked, so preventing colonisation by the affected species (Hay and Bowen, 1996, Zee et al., 2001). Several studies have confirmed that sIgA is mainly dimeric rather than monomeric, and it is associated with an epithelial glycoprotein called SC (secretory component) (Seidel et al, 2001). At least 95% of the IgA normally appearing in saliva is produced by the local gland-associated immunocytes rather than being derived from the serum (Brandtzaeg, 1989).

#### 2.4.1.1. Induction of secretory immune responses

The main function of mucosa-associated lymphoid tissue (MALT) is generation and dissemination of stimulated B-cells. From these inductive sites they migrate as memory cells to exocrine tissues all over the body (Brandtzaeg et al., 1997). These B cells subsequently require some "second signals" for terminal differentiation in secretory tissues, for example salivary glands.

The lymphoepitelial structures include Peyer's patches and other gut-associated lymphoid tissue (GALT), bronchus-associated lymphoid tissue (BALT) (Escolar Castellon et al., 1992) and probably the tonsils (Brandtzaeg, 1989). Second signals inducing local B-cell differentiation are not fully known, but the importance of topical antigen for both local B-cell proliferation and differentiation has been shown (Figure 1).

25

Figure 1. Schematic representation of B-cell traffic in the secretory immune system (from Human Saliva: Clinical Chemistry and Microbiology, Vol II. Ed. Tenovuo JO. Figure 6. Boca Raton, Florida, 1989). Figure is used by kind permission of CRC Press.

#### 2.4.1.2. Properties of salivary immunoglobulins

Most sIgA consists of an IgA dimer, one or two J chains, and one SC molecule. SIgA is remarkably stable and therefore well suited to function in protease-containing external secretions such as saliva. It is generally accepted that sIgA antibodies act in the first line of mucosal defense principally by simple binding to soluble and particulate antigens. As the first line of defense against microbial invasion, sIgA is the dominant immunoglobulin on all mucosal surfaces (Proctor and Carpenter, 2001). High levels of sIgA are found in saliva of newborn infants, indicating the existence of a competent oral mucosal immune system as early as within the first 10 days of life (Seidel et al., 2000). SIgA is capable of inhibiting various enzymes and retardate bacterial colonization on oral hard surfaces, also in the early stages (Zee et al., 2001). It has been found that chewing stimulates epithelial cell transcytosis of IgA and increases secretion of secretory IgA into saliva (Proctor and Carpenter, 2001). Salivary levels of IgA have been widely studied, in healthy and also in diseased patients. In a study with diabetic patients, significantly higher IgA concentrations in IDDM patients were reported (Ben-Aryeh et al., 1993). Salivary levels of IgA are elevated at pregnancy (Bratthall and Widerström, 1985). In HIV-infected patients the IgA levels were higher than in healthy controls (Mellanen et al., 2001). Salivary levels of IgA in triathletes have been reported to be reduced (Steerenberg et al., 1997).

Secretory IgM (sIgM) is not as resistant to proteolytic degradation as sIgA. SIgM levels have been shown to be increased in infancy and in selective IgA deficiency. It is probable, that sIgM may function like sIgA in the first line of mucosal defense (Brandtzaeg et al., 1997).

Salivary IgG reaches the oral cavity by leakage through various epithelia and is mainly added to whole saliva via crevicular fluid. It is mainly derived from serum, although a minor fraction of the crevicular IgG may originate in local plasma cells when the gingivae are inflamed. Salivary IgG can be expected to have the same functional properties as circulating IgG. Crevicular IgG antibodies have been shown to inhibit colonization of *Streptococcus mutans* and can protect significantly against tooth decay in monkeys.

Traces of IgD probably reach whole saliva by passive diffusion like IgG. IgD cannot be detected regularly in parotid fluid from normal adults but it appears in whole saliva when present in serum.

26

However, during the first 6 months after birth salivary IgD levels are often relatively high (Seidel et al., 2001). The functional significance of salivary IgD is not known.

Salivary IgE most likely reaches external secretions by passive diffusion, although a contribution from intraepithelial mast cells in atopic and allergic individuals is also a possibility (Vernejoux et al., 1994). The biological significance of the traces of IgE found in whole saliva is unknown.

#### 2.4.2. Nonimmunoglobulin proteins

#### 2.4.2.1. Lysozyme

Lysozyme represents the main enzyme of the nonspecific salivary immune defense (Meyer and Zechel, 2001), and it is secreted mainly by the submandibular and sublingual glands (Noble, 2000). Salivary lysozyme hydrolyses specific bonds in exposed bacterial cell walls, causing cell lysis and death. Many organisms, however, have cell capsules or other cell wall protective material, which confer resistance against lysozyme attack (Tenovuo, 1989). Lysozyme has been proposed as a lytic factor for bacteria which immunoglobulins have bound, mimicking in some respects the complement system in serum. Lysozyme aggregates cell suspensions of some bacterial species (Hay and Bowen, 1996). It is also known that lysozyme contributes to mucosal protection and modulates Candida populations in the oral cavity (Samaranayake et al., 2001).

#### 2.4.2.2. Peroxidase systems

Peroxidases, salivary peroxidase and myeloperoxidase, catalyze a reaction involved in the inhibition of bacterial growth and metabolism, and the prevention of hydrogen peroxide accumulation, thus protecting proteins from the action of oxygen and reactive oxygen species (Salvolini et al., 2000; Battino et al., 2002). More precisely, salivary peroxidase catalyses the oxidation of thiocyanate ion (SCN<sup>-</sup>) to generate oxidation products that inhibit the growth and metabolism of many micro-organisms (Battino et al., 2002). The primary oxidazer, hydrogen peroxide, is produced by the bacteria, and the production of the toxic agents is highly localized and occurs close to the bacterial target (Hay and Bowen, 1996).

#### 2.4.2.3. Lactoferrin

Lactoferrin is present in plasma and in mucosal secretions (van der Strate et al., 1999). Salivary lactoferrin has antibacterial activity. Lactoferrin binds iron, making it unavailable for microbial use (Tenovuo, 1989). Lactoferrin, in its unbound state, also has a direct bactericidal effect on some micro-organisms including *Streptococcus mutans* strains.

#### 2.4.2.4. Histatins

Histatins comprise a group of small histidine-rich proteins present in the saliva. The most significant function of histatins may be their anti-fungal activity against *Candida albicans* (Tsai and Bobek, 1998;

Koshlukova et al., 1999). Oral candidiasis may also modulate the levels of salivary histatin (Bercier et al., 1999; Jainkittivong et al., 1998). It has been suggested that histatins could be used as components of artificial saliva for patients with salivary dysfunction (Tsai and Bobek, 1998).

Histatins have been shown to be tannin-binding proteins in human saliva (Yan and Bennick, 1995; Wroblowski et al., 2001). Histatins also bind to enamel surfaces and hydroxyapatite in a complex manner (Lamkin et al., 1996).

#### 2.4.2.5. Agglutinins

Salivary agglutinins are glycoproteins which have the capacity to interact with unattached bacteria, resulting in clumping of bacteria into large aggregates which are more easily flushed away by saliva and swallowed (Tenovuo and Lagerlöf, 1994). Bacterial binding to salivary proteins may in part account for individual differences in the colonization of tooth surfaces. Agglutinins induce the aggregation and clearance of streptococci from the oral cavity and are also important modulators of initial plaque formation (Carlen et al., 1998). On the other hand, it seems that salivary agglutinins may mediate the adherence of various bacterial species to the tooth surfaces (Lamont et al., 1991; Stenudd et al., 2001).

A number of salivary proteins with an agglutinating capacity have been identified: parotid saliva glycoproteins, mucins, sIgA,  $\beta$ 2-microglobulin, fibronectin and lysozyme (Tenovuo, 1989).

#### 2.4.3. Salivary antimicrobial factors and oral health

The relative concentrations of the organic salivary constituents are known to depend on salivary flow rate (Brandtzaeg, 1989). Some studies report temporal variations in salivary proteins (Oberg et al., 1982; Jenzano et al., 1987; McGurk et al., 1990). Little is known of the correlations of salivary proteins and possible changes in these correlations during daytime (Rudney and Smith, 1985). Salivary protein composition is also subject to variation in patients on different medications (Henskens et al., 1996).

Many investigators have attempted to relate differences in salivary levels of antibacterial proteins to differences in oral health. However, the results have been inconsistent and difficult to interpret. In almost all studies, single point measurements of salivary antimicrobial factors have been correlated to clinical indices, such as DMF scores, which represent cumulative disease experience (Tenovuo, 1989). Within-subject correlations among salivary antimicrobial protein levels over time can provide an indirect estimate of the extent to which analyses of these factors may influence the results of clinical investigations (Rudney et al., 1985). It is also important to remember that many salivary antimicrobial factors interact with each other (Tenovuo et al., 1987; Lenander-Lumikari et al., 1992).

It seems that no single salivary defensive factor (except flow rate) affects oral health to a significant degree (Kirstilä et al., 1998). This interaction may be one reason why it has been difficult to relate variations in salivary levels to oral ecology. It may be appropriate to consider salivary proteins as an integrated system (Rudney, 1989). The concerted action of all agents in whole saliva, both saliva-and serum-derived, provides a multifunctional protective network that collapses only if salivary flow rate is substantially reduced (Tenovuo, 1998).

#### 2.5. AMYLASES

Amylase ( $\alpha$  – amylase ) is one of the most important salivary digestive enzymes. It consists of two families of isoenzymes, of which one set is glycosylated and the other contains no carbohydrate (Mäkinen, 1989). Salivary amylase is a calcium metalloenzyme which hydrolyses the alpha bonds of starches, such as amylose and amylopectin (Hay and Bowen, 1996). Maltose is the major end-product. It has been suggested that amylase accounts for 40 to 50% of the total salivary gland-produced protein, most of the enzyme being synthesized in the parotid gland (Noble, 2000). Human parotid saliva and submandibular saliva contain about 45 mg and 30 mg of amylase, respectively, per 100 mg of protein (Mäkinen, 1989). However, it has also been claimed that amylase makes up about 1/3 of the total protein content in parotid saliva, and the content in whole saliva would be lower (Pedersen et al., 2002). The concentration of amylase increases with the salivary flow rate, and it is generally considered to be a reliable marker of serous cell function (Almståhl et al., 2001).

In addition to its well-known function as a digestive enzyme, amylase has been reported to act as an antimicrobial enzyme. Amylase activity exists also in tears, nasal and bronchial secretions, milk, serum, urine and in the secretions of the urogenital tract (Tenovuo, 1989). Amylase also interacts specifically with certain oral bacteria and may play a role in modulating the adhesion of those species to teeth (Scannapieco et al., 1993). It has been found that salivary amylase inhibits the growth of *Legionella pneumophila* and *Neisseria gonorrhoeae* (Tenovuo, 1989). Amylase is also present in human acquired pellicle *in vivo* (Yao et al., 2001). Fasting has been found to decrease whole saliva amylase levels and activity (Mäkinen, 1989). The amylase concentrations in radiation-induced hyposalivation has been found to be reduced (Almståhl et al., 2001).

#### 2.6. SALIVARY ALBUMIN

Albumin is the most abundant serum protein, accounting for more than 50% of all plasma proteins. Its molecular mass is 69 kDa and the normal serum reference limits are 40 - 52 mg/l. Albumin is synthesized exclusively in the liver at a rate of 100 - 200 mg/kg/day. Factors that regulate albumin

synthesis are nutrition, hormonal balance, and osmotic pressure. The half life of albumin is approximately 15 - 20 days. About 4% of albumin is degraded per day, but synthesis can be increased by as much as 100% by conditions that decrease serum albumin or lower intravascular osmotic pressure (Weisiger, 1996). Nephrotic syndrome is the best known example of systemic disorders with characteristic proteinuria and subsequent hypoalbuminaemia which lead to oedema (Appel, 1996).

In the oral cavity, albumin is regarded as a serum ultrafiltrate to the mouth (Oppenheim, 1970; von Meyer et al., 1973) and it may also diffuse into the mucosal secretions (Schenkels et al., 1995). Salivary albumin is selectively adsorbed by different materials in the oral cavity, which may enable the attachment of specific bacteria and thus alter the composition of dental plaque (Kohavi et al., 1997). Salivary albumin has been shown to increase in medically compromised patients whose general condition gets worse (Meurman et al., 2002). Immunosuppression, radiotherapy, and diabetes are examples of states where high concentrations of salivary albumin have been detected (Isutzu et al., 1981; Ben-Aryeh et al., 1993; Henskens et al., 1993; Meurman et al., 1994; Mellanen et al., 2001). There are no reference limits for salivary albumin, however.

Salivary albumin levels have been used as a marker for the degree of mucositis (Oppenheim, 1970; Izutsu et al., 1981; Makkonen et al., 1994) and inflammations in salivary glands (Lutz et al., 1991; Schiodt et al., 1992). Butler et al. (1990) found that albumin levels in whole saliva fluctuated in most of the elderly patients in their study. Cuida et al. (1997) found that albumin concentrations were higher in both parotid and whole saliva in patients with primary Sjögren's syndrome (SS) than in the control group. However, the output/min of albumin was lower in SS patients. Lenander-Lumikari et al. (2000) found that albumin concentrations were higher in healthy controls.

It may be hypothesized that salivary albumin can be used to assess the integrity of mucosal function in the mouth (Meurman et al., 1997b). In periodontitis patients, significantly increased levels of salivary albumin have been reported (Henskens et al., 1993), and a significant correlation between salivary albumin and gingival index in diabetic patients has been found (Ben-Aryeh et al., 1993). On the other hand, Sweeney and coworkers (1994) did not find any difference in serum albumin concentrations in elderly patients with mucosal pathology in the mouth when compared with those with healthy mouths. In a recent study Yoshihara et al. (2003) found that there is a relationship between root caries and serum albumin concentrations in elderly subjects. Terrapon et al. (1996) found that the low salivary albumin of old edentulous people was similar to that in a group of younger individuals with a healthy periodontium.

#### 2.7. HORMONES IN SALIVA

#### 2.7.1. Transportation of hormones into saliva

In general, the presence of a molecule in saliva can occur through four mechanisms (Read, 1989):

1. Passage through the tight junctions of the cells of the salivary glands. This passage is dependent on molecular weight and will be relatively unimportant for compounds of 200 Da or more.

2. Passage through the lipid-rich cell membranes of the acinar cells of the salivary glands. This route is available to lipophilic molecules, such as progesterone and cortisol. It is not available to changed molecules such as steroid conjugates. Concentration reflects the free fraction in plasma.

3. Active secretion. This means exocrine gland secretion. Since salivary glands can secrete amylase and several proteases, for example, there is no reason why a protein hormone should not be secreted. Such secretion is energy dependent, and possible metabolism in the salivary gland may have an effect on the concentration. Hence, the correlation of saliva concentration with plasma concentration may be unsatisfactory.

4. Contamination. The blood and serum constituents may arise from minor abrasions and leakage from the gingivae. If oral health is poor, or the patient is malnourished, gingival leakage is even more significant.

In addition, pH and metabolism to the analyte in the salivary gland may have an effect on the concentration of hormone in saliva. Thus the saliva level of a hormone is more likely to reflect the plasma level only if the molecule is lipophilic. However, several peptide hormones have been found in saliva.

#### 2.7.2. Steroid hormones

Interest in measuring hormones in saliva, particularly neutral steroids, has risen considerably in past decades. This interest has been stimulated by the noninvasive nature of salivary sampling (Lac, 2001).

Steroid hormones circulate in plasma either as free hormones or as hormone bound to proteins and this binding may be either "nonspecific" or "specific". Nonspecific binding is predominantly to albumin, and specific binding to such proteins as sex hormone binding globulin and cortisol binding

protein (CBG). Hence, steroid hormone in plasma is distributed in three different compartments: free, bound to albumin, and bound to specific binding protein.

The main advantage of saliva sampling for steroids in saliva is that concentrations of hormones in saliva reflect the free fraction in plasma (Lac, 2001; Hofman, 2001). Practically all steroids can be detected in saliva with good correlations with respective serum values (Read, 1989; Groschl et al., 2001; Hofman, 2001; Raff et al., 2002).

#### 2.7.2.1. Cortisol

Salivary cortisol has been measured since 1978 (Walker et al., 1978). Studies suggest that salivary cortisol levels may be lower than the plasma free level by as much as 20% (Read, 1989; Raff et al., 2002). Good correlation coefficients have been reported between salivary cortisol and plasma free cortisol concentrations, with correlations of r = 0.80 or even r = 0.90 (Read, 1989). Since the salivary cortisol assay is technically much simpler than any procedure for determining the free level, this makes the salivary assay useful in any situation in which cortisol binding is disturbed. Some investigators have found that salivary cortisol is a better measure of adrenal cortical function than serum cortisol and is particularly useful in studies with children (Mandel, 1990). Salivary determinations may also be used to elucidate the role of cortisol in stress. The saliva samples may also be used to follow the response to the ACTH (adrenocorticotropin hormone) test. Cortisol has also been detected from gingival crevicular fluid (Axtelius et al., 1998).

#### 2.7.3. Peptide hormones in saliva

It has also been suggested that proteins and even quite small peptides could occur in saliva only as a result of contamination by gingival fluid or plasma exudate. However, this cannot be the whole truth, since saliva also contains different proteins that have a physiological role and which are presumably secreted in the same fashion as are the proteins secreted by any exocrine gland. Such secretion is energy dependent, and it is not clear that the salivary concentration of any protein secreted by such a mechanism would bear any direct relationship to the circulating plasma concentration over short periods of time (Read, 1989). However, there are published data on many peptide hormones in saliva: human choriongonadotrophin, carcinoembryonic antigen , gonadotropins, prolactin, thyroxine, melatonin, insulin (Elson et al., 1983; Wright and Lack, 2001; Lac, 2001), and gastrin (Ingenito et al., 1986).

#### 2.7.3.1. Growth hormone

Growth hormone (GH, somatotropin) contains 191 amino acids and it is secreted in pulses from the anterior part of the pituitary gland (Becker et al., 1990). Its function in the oral cavity is not known. As only minor amounts of GH have been detected in human saliva (Rantonen et al., 2000), it can be

supposed that it may not be actively excreted to saliva but that salivary GH rather represents serum ultrafiltrate and is probably part of the free fraction of plasma, devoid of any binding globulin. However, GH is a large molecule (molecular weight 21,500) and it is not probable that it can diffuse freely from serum to saliva as can steroid hormones, which are much smaller (Read, 1989). There are only a few published reports on GH and saliva. Alexander et al. (1989) found that transgenic mice began to secrete GH into saliva at puberty. On the other hand, it is known that saliva contains insulin-like growth factor (IGF-1), and salivary IGF-1 levels reflect the GH status of the donor (Costigan et al., 1988; Halimi et al., 1994). Baum et al. (1999) found that GH was secreted primarily in an exocrine manner into saliva after parasympathomimetic secretory stimulus in rat. It has also been found that hydroxychloroquine enhances the secretion of adenovirus-directed GH from rat submandibular glands into the blood stream *in vivo* (Hoque et al., 2001).

#### 2.8. SALIVARY UREA

Urea is metabolized by the oral bacteria to ammonia and CO, resulting in an increase in the pH of the environment (Carlsson and Hamilton, 1994; Dibdin and Dawes, 1998). The influence of normal salivary urea levels on the pH of fasted plaque and on the depth and duration of a Stephan curve is uncertain. It has been suggested that plaque cariogenicity may be inversely related to salivary urea concentrations, not only when the latter are elevated as a result of some disease, but even when they are in the normal range (Dibdin and Dawes, 1998). pH gradients in dental plaque induced by urea metabolism have also been studied in "artificial mouths", and it has been found that urea-induced pH gradients may form, and can last many hours (Sissons et al., 1994). Little is known about whether the addition of a small amount of urea to chewing gum influences calculus formation or Stephan curve (Fure et al., 1998; Dawes and Dibdin, 2001).

It has been suggested that in certain metabolic conditions, mainly patients with renal dysfunction, urea is cumulated and it could be easily monitored in saliva (Khramov et al., 1994; Al Nowaiser et al., 2003).

# **3. AIMS AND HYPOTHESES OF THE STUDY**

The overall aim of these series of studies was to investigate various aspects of salivary diagnosis in healthy and diseased subjects. The aim was also to determine whether saliva as a diagnostic fluid could be used to investigate growth hormone. More specifically, the purposes were:

**1.** to investigate salivary flow rate, buffering capacity and yeast counts in medicated and unmedicated adult patients (I);

**2.** to investigate one-day hourly patterns of and within-subject variations in salivary viscosities and flow rates in a test panel of healthy adults (II);

**3.** to investigate the one-day hourly pattern and correlations between lysozyme, IgA, IgG, IgM, albumin, amylase and total protein concentrations in stimulated whole saliva in healthy adults over a 12-hour period. In addition, we wanted to study the within-subject variations in these variables (III);

**4.** to investigate salivary concentrations of cortisol and growth hormone (GH, somatotropin) in a healthy homogenous study group (IV); and

**5.** to analyze salivary albumin concentrations in patients on an acute geriatric ward and to correlate the findings to the patients' oral health parameters and systemic condition (V).

One hypothesis was that differences exist in salivary flow rates and salivary composition, and between the different groups. Medication was expected to affect salivary flow rates and other variables. Other study hypotheses were that the time of saliva collection may affect its flow rate and composition, and that certain correlations may exist between these variables. Further, the salivary concentrations of GH were expected to correlate with their respective serum concentrations, if GH in general were detected in saliva. The salivary albumin concentrations were expected to be higher in medically compromised patients.

# 4. SUBJECTS, MATERIALS AND METHODS

Detailed description of the materials, subjects and methods are given in the original publications of this thesis (I-V). The following chapters briefly summarize the essential materials and methods.

### 4.1. ETHICAL CONSIDERATION

In all of the studies the study protocol had been approved by the joint Ethical Committee of Kuopio University Hospital and the University of Kuopio. The ethical guidelines of the Declaration of Helsinki (1975) were followed.

### 4.2. SUBJECT GROUPS

Altogether 651 subjects were included. Four different subject or patient groups (A, B, C and D) were studied:

#### 4.2.1. Patient group A (I)

A total of 187 ambulatory adult patients (101 men, 86 women) of the University Dental Clinic in Kuopio were recruited. Most of the patients were enrolled in the study on their first visit to the Clinic.

Subgroup I Unmedicated patients (n = 84).

Subgroup II Medicated patients (n = 103).

The study group was divided into three different age groups: 20 - 40 years, n = 36; 40 - 60 years, n = 88; and over 60 years, n = 63 (Table 3).

Information about patients' condition and daily medicines was obtained via an interview before collecting salivary samples. Smoking was not recorded.

	Men	Women	All
	n	n	n
Age			
20-40 yrs	15	21	36
41-60 yrs	51	37	88
>60 yrs	35	28	63
Medication			
Unmedicated	45	39	84
1-2 medicines	41	30	71
3-4 medicines	12	11	23
>5 medicines	3	6	9
All	101	86	187

Table 3. Basic data of study group A.

### 4.2.2. Subject group B (II-III)

This consisted of 30 Kuopio University students, 16 male (mean age  $24.2 \pm 2.9$  years) and 14 female (mean age  $21.7 \pm 1.5$  years). All subjects were accepted on a voluntary basis, and only healthy, unmedicated and non-smoking subjects were recruited.

# 4.2.3. Subject group C (IV)

This consisted of 51 healthy, unmedicated and non-smoking subjects, 23 men, 28 women (mean age  $23.7 \partial 2.5$  years). All subjects were accepted on a voluntary basis.

# 4.2.4. Patient group D (V)

This consisted of 383 patients. The study group was divided into two subgroups:

Subgroup I

Hospitalized patients (n = 131). The patients were selected from 199 consecutive patients referred, because of a sudden worsening of their general condition, to the Harjula geriatric hospital, Kuopio City Health Centre, in Kuopio, Finland. The patients' medical and dental history and status were recorded during the first week of hospitalization by a team of physicians, dentists and nurses, and blood and saliva samples were taken. The patients' subjective symptoms of the mouth, such as sensation of dry mouth, were recorded using structured forms. Smoking was not recorded. A detailed description and the inclusion and exclusion criteria of the original study have been given elsewhere (Meurman et al., 1997a; Pajukoski et al., 1999).

During two-year follow-up, 47 patients died. The death records were obtained from Statistics Finland. The cause of death was not recorded.
#### Subgroup II

Outpatients (n = 252). Subjects aged over 75-years from the same population as the patients were offered the opportunity to have a dental, salivary and x-ray examination at the Department of Oral and Dental Diseases, University of Kuopio, via an advertisement in the leading local newspaper. Altogether 260 subjects responded and all were examined using the same WHO criteria as with the hospitalized patients (World Health Organization, 1980; 1987) (Table 4). Similarly, the subjects' symptoms of the mouth were recorded. Panoramic x-rays were taken of the subjects' jaws, and cubital venous blood was drawn to analyze blood erythrocyte sedimentation rate, white blood count, and C-reactive protein values. These will be reported elsewhere. The subjects' medical history and drugs used daily were obtained via an interview. Smoking was not recorded. Drugs were classified according to a national manual for doctors (Pharmaca Fennica, 2000).

	Hospitalized Survived	patients Died	Outpatients
N	84	47	252
Gender	23 men, 61 women	15 men, 32 women	71 men, 181 women
Age, mean with SD and range (years)			
Men	81.8 2 6.4 (71 - 96)	81.8 2 6.8 (70 - 94)	75.9 ∂ 5.7 (70 - 95)
Women	81.3 ∂ 5.5 (70 - 95)	83.2 ∂ 5.1 (72 - 92)	77.3 ∂ 5.5 (70 - 95)
All	81.4 ∂ 5.8 (70 - 96)	82.7 ∂5.7 (70 - 94)	76.9 ∂5.6 (70 - 95)
Mean number of concomitant			
systemic diseases	2.0 2 1.6	2.4 ∂ 1.6	3.6 2 1.9
Mean number of drugs used daily	6.0 2 3.1	6.8 2 3.0	4.1 ∂ 2.8***

Table 4. Basic characteristics of study group D.

\*\*\* p < 0.001, between hospitalized patients and outpatients. Differences between patients who died and those who survived were not statistically significant.

### 4.3. STUDY PLAN

Group	Unstimulated whole saliva	Stimulated whole saliva	Blood
Group A (I) Adult patients (n = 187): unmedicated and medicated 20-40 yrs n = 36 41-60 yrs n = 88 over 60 yrs n = 63	Flow rate	Flow rate Buffering capacity Yeast counts	
<b>Group B (II, III)</b> Healthy, unmedicated students (n = 30) Mean age 22.7 yrs	5 repeated samplings Flow rate Viscosity	5 repeated samplings Flow rate Viscosity IgA, IgG, IgM Lysozyme Albumin Amylase Total protein	
Group C (IV) Healthy, unmedicated students (n = 51) Mean age 23.7 yrs	Flow rate GH	Flow rate IgA, IgG, IgM Albumin Amylase Urea Cortisol	Cortisol GH

**Group D (V)** Elderly patients (n = 383): hospitalized (n = 131), mean age 81.9 yrs and outpatients (n = 252), mean age 76.9 yrs



+ medical and dental examination

Figure 2. Study plan.

#### 4.4. SALIVARY SAMPLES

The subjects were given written instructions beforehand regarding the saliva collections. Subjects and patients were told not to eat, drink or smoke for 1 h before each sampling. The saliva samples were always collected in restful and quiet circumstances. Unstimulated whole saliva was collected for 3 minutes (group A) by the subject leaning forward and spitting saliva into the test tube once a minute, or for 5 minutes (group B and C) by the subject leaning forward and letting the saliva drain into a graded sampling tube.

Whole saliva flow was stimulated by chewing a piece of paraffin wax (Orion Diagnostica, Espoo, Finland) at a constant rate. Stimulated whole saliva was collected over a 3 min period (group A, B and C) or 5 minutes (group D), and the saliva secreted during the first 30 seconds (group A, B and C) or 60 seconds (group D) was discarded. The flow rates were evaluated visually from graded test tubes (as ml/min).

The collection procedure was practiced several times with the researcher before the collections in order to reduce the bias in repeated measurements (group B). In group B, the saliva samples were collected five times daily at 8:00 h, 11:00 h, 14:00 h, 17:00 h and 20:00 h. In group A, saliva samples were taken between 9:00 h and 12:00 h. In group C, saliva samples were collected at 8:00 h after 12 hours fasting, and in group D between 13:00 h and 15:00 h.

For salivary growth hormone analysis (group C), however, each participant gave stimulated saliva samples directly into albumin-coated test tubes that were kept in crushed ice. Immediately after collection, the samples were deep-frozen in dry ice and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$  C until analyzed. Salivary samples in groups A, B and C were collected by the same researcher.

#### 4.5. BLOOD SAMPLES

Cubital venous blood was drawn into 5 ml Vacutainer tubes without anticoagulants. Coagulated blood was centrifuged (10 min, 720 x g), serum was taken and deep-frozen ( $-70^{\circ}$  C) for analyses (group C).

#### 4.6. BUFFERING CAPACITY

Buffering capacity was assessed using the Dentobuff-strip chair-side method (Orion Diagnostica, Espoo, Finland).

#### **4.7. YEAST COUNTS**

Yeast cultures were assessed with Oricult-N dip slides (Orion Diagnostica, Espoo, Finland) (groups A and D). The slides were incubated at 37° C for two (group A) or four (group D) days until read for colonies of yeasts, mainly Candida spp.

#### 4.8. VISCOSITY MEASUREMENTS

A Wells Brookfield digital cone-plate viscometer, model LVTDV CP - II (Brookfield Engineering Laboratories, Stoughton, Mass., USA), was used. A cone of very shallow angle ( $0.8\forall$  spindle CP - 40) is allowed to rotate freely inside the testing cup. When the liquid (saliva) to be tested is introduced between the cone and plate, a resistance to the rotation of the cone is produced. A reading of the dial of the instrument gives a measure of this resistance, or shear stress ( $\vartheta$ ), of the fluid. The apparent viscosity of the fluid can be calculated from the ratio of the shear stress ( $\vartheta$ ) to the rate of shear ( $\nu$ ) applied. Apparent viscosity  $\xi$  was measured immediately after collection from the fresh saliva samples (1 ml, T=  $37 \pm 0.1$  C, shear rate 90 s<sup>-1</sup>) (group B).

#### 4.9. SALIVARY LABORATORY ANALYSIS

The sampling tubes were placed in crushed ice right after collection. Stimulated saliva samples were used for analysis. Lysozyme was assessed immediately using a modification of the lysoplate method (Rudney and Smith, 1985), which is based on the capacity of lysozyme to lyse cell walls of *Micrococcus lysodeikticus*. Saliva was pipetted on the agarose gel plates before the sample was centrifuged. The diameters of clearance zones were measured after 24 hours (group B). The rest of the saliva was centrifuged (2000 x g, 10 min) and the samples were stored at -75 C until further analyzed. The total salivary immunoglobulin concentrations were then analyzed from thawed samples using an enzyme immunoassay (ELISA) according to Lehtonen et al. (1984) (group B and C). Albumin was assessed by a spectrophotometric method, and human serum albumin standards were used (Webster, 1977). Total protein was measured with the colorimetric Lowry method (Lowry et al., 1951) (group B, C and D). Bovine protein standards were used.

Amylase was analyzed using an enzymatic colorimetric test kit ( $\zeta$ -amylase EPS, Boehringer Mannheim, Mannheim, Germany) (group B, C). Precinorm E was used as a control.

Urea was analyzed using the Boehringer kinetic method (MPR 2, Boehringer Mannheim, Germany) (group C and D). Precimat Urea was used as a standard.

#### 4.9.1. Analyses of serum and salivary cortisol concentrations

To analyze serum cortisol (group C) an Orion Diagnostica RIA kit was used (Orion Diagnostica, Espoo, Finland). Detailed description of the laboratory procedures is given in paper IV. Radioactivities were assessed in a Gamma Master 1277 gammacounter (Wallac Oy, Turku, Finland) during 1 min. All the analyses were made in duplicate.

Salivary cortisol was assessed in the same way as from blood samples except that the standards were prepared from a 2000 nmol/l solution which was diluted in the 0.1 M Tris buffer (pH 7.4) to give the final concentrations of 0 - 100 nmol/l. Antiserum and assay buffer for the NSB tubes were diluted 1:5 in the Tris buffer. The salivary analyses were also made in duplicate. Concentrations were determined as nmol/l.

### 4.9.2. Assay for human growth hormone in saliva and in serum, and its validation

The concentrations of GH in saliva and in serum (group C) were determined with a highly sensitive immunoradiometric assay, which originally was introduced for urine samples (Helenius et al, 1989). Two monoclonal antibodies were used, both from Medix Biochemica (Kauniainen, Finland). Detailed description of the laboratory procedures is given in paper IV. According to Medix Biochemica both monoclonal antibodies recognize specifically human GH with molecular weight of 22 kDa (cross-reactivity 100 %). Neither of the monoclonal antibodies recognizes the molecular form of 20 kDa (cross-reactivities below 0.2 %). Cross-reactivity with human prolactin is 1 % with both antibodies. With human placental lactogen, the Mab 5801 has a cross -reactivity of 0.2 % and Mab 5802 below 0.2 %. The detection limit of the assay, estimated from the interpolated response at two standard deviations above zero dose, is 1.0 ng/l when fresh labeled antibody is used. Concentrations were determined as mU/l in serum and  $\mu$ U/l in saliva.

The possible blood contamination of the salivary samples was tested with semiquantitative strip-test (Redia-test, Boehringer Mannheim, Germany).

### 4.9.2.1. Radioimmunological method

Serum GH concentrations were also analyzed using the radioimmunological method of Orion Diagnostica Human Growth Hormone RIA kit (Espoo, Finland). Detailed description of the laboratory procedures is given in paper IV. Radioactivity was assessed in a Gamma Master 1277 gammacounter during 1 min. All the analyses were made in duplicate.

#### 4.10. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Kolmogorov-Smirnov's test was used to test the normality of distributions. The SPSS for Windows program was used (Statistical Package for Social Sciences, SPSS Inc., Chicago, U.S.A.) in all statistical analyses.

#### Group A

Results were expressed as mean values  $\partial$  SD. Frequencies were also used in the statistics when applicable. The results between the three age groups and between medicated and unmedicated groups were analyzed statistically. The statistical significance of the differences between the means were tested using Student's *t* test.

#### **Group B**

A repeated measures design was used in MANOVA. These statistical tests allow that data from repeated samplings correlate with each other, which was tested by correlation plotting. Initial results were computed on the basis of observed concentrations. The viscosity of saliva can be subject to variation due to differences in flow rates between subjects. We used MANOVA with covariates (flow rate) to test the within-subject variation in the repeated samplings.

Concentrations of salivary proteins can be subject to variation due to differences between subjects in flow rates and total protein output (Rudney et al., 1985). Since total protein concentration and flow rate seemed to correlate with the other variables in our data, we used MANOVA with covariates (flow rate and total protein) to test the within-subject variation of the repeated samplings.

To study the relationships between the variables at different time points we used partial correlations (Pearson). Flow rates were controlled for.

Correlations within subjects across samples were expressed as inter-item correlations (IIC). These correlations indicate how persons who show low or high values for a variable remain at the low or high end of the range for each time point (Rudney et al., 1985).

#### Group C

Mean concentrations and standard deviations of variables were calculated. Differences between the sexes were calculated by Student's *t* test for independent samples. To remove skewness in these values, concentrations were re-expressed as base 10 logs. Since total protein concentration seemed to correlate with other parameters also in our data, we used Pearson's partial correlation controlling for salivary total protein to calculate associations between variables.

#### **Group D**

Results were expressed as mean values  $\partial$  SD. Median values were also used in the statistics when applicable. Differences were analyzed between men and women and between the hospitalized

patients and outpatients. Albumin values were studied with respect to the patients' age, and to a variety of other background variables, such as dental parameters and treatment need, mouth mucosal pathology, salivary yeast counts, number of the patients' concomitant systemic diagnoses, various disease groups, and drugs used daily. The differences between the groups were assessed by means of Student's *t* test, rank-sum test, or chi-square test when applicable. Analysis of variance was used for continuous data when applicable, and logistic regression analyses were made to investigate the effect of various variables on albumin values below or above the median, separately in the hospitalized patients and outpatients. Cox survival regression analysis was used to study risk factors regarding patients who died and those who survived.

# **5. RESULTS**

## 5.1. SALIVARY FLOW, BUFFERING CAPACITIES AND YEAST COUNTS (STUDY I)

### 5.1.1. Patients' medication

Information about patients' health and daily medicines was obtained via an interview before collecting salivary samples. Altogether 103 patients were medicated and 84 were unmedicated (Table 3). The medicines used are listed in Table 5.

Table 5. Group A. Use of medicines (n = 187). Each patient may concomitantly use several drugs, and altogether 103 patients were medicated.

Medication	Men (n = 101)		Women $(n = 86)$	
	n	%	n	%
Antidepressant drugs, tranquilizers, sedatives and antipsychotic agents	4	4.0	6	7.0
Diuretics, antihypertensive agents, nitrates, digitalis and antiarrythmic agents	33	32.7	23	26.7
Analgesics and antipyretics	5	5.0	9	10.5
Respiratory drugs	5	5.0	5	5.8
Drugs for metabolic diseases	2	2.0	7	8.1
Drugs for gastro-intestinal diseases	30	29.7	12	14.0
Other (hormones, antibiotics etc.)	4	4.0	11	12.8

#### 5.1.2. Unstimulated saliva

The mean unstimulated whole saliva flow rate was found to be 0.5 ml/min (SD 0.4 ml/min) (Table 6). Women had a lower mean flow than men, and the differences between the sexes were statistically significant in all age groups in medicated and unmedicated patients (Tables 6 and 7).

The medicated patients had a slightly lower mean flow rates than unmedicated ones, the difference being statistically significant in patients aged over 60 years (p < 0.010) and in men aged over 60 years (p < 0.050) (Table 7).

		Men = 10	n )1)	Wom (n =	en 86)	All $(n =$	187)	Significance between
Age	n	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	genders
20-40 yrs	36	0.8#	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.6	0.4	< 0.050
41-60 yrs	88	0.7	0.5	0.4	0.2	0.6#	0.4	< 0.001
>60 yrs	63	0.5#	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.4#	0.3	< 0.010
All	187	0.6	0.4	0.4	0.3	0.5	0.4	< 0.001

Table 6. Unstimulated saliva flow (ml/min) in all patients (group A, n = 187).

 $\frac{1}{4}$  p < 0.050; significance between age groups.

Table 7.	Unstimulated	saliva flow (	ml/min) in t	unmedicated ar	nd medicated j	patients (	group A,
n =187)							

		$Men \\ (n = 101)$		Wome $(n = 8)$	en (6)	All $(n = 1)$	87)	Significance	
Age	n	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	genders	
Unmedicated									
20-40 yrs	31	0.8	0.5	0.5	0.3	0.6	0.4	< 0.050	
41-60 yrs	40	0.7	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.5	0.4	< 0.010	
>60 yrs	13	0.7*	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.6**	0.5	N.S.	
All	84	0.7	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.6	0.4	< 0.010	
Medicated									
20-40 yrs	6	0.7	0.6	0.2	0.0	0.5	0.5	N.S.	
41-60 yrs	48	0.7#	0.5	0.4	0.3	0.6#	0.5	< 0.050	
>60 yrs	50	0.5#*	0.3	0.3	0.2	0.4#**	0.3	< 0.050	
All	103	0.6	0.4	0.3	0.3	0.5	0.4	< 0.001	

\*\* p < 0.010; \*p < 0.050; significance between medicated and unmedicated.

# p < 0.050; significance between age groups.

#### 5.1.3. Stimulated saliva

The mean stimulated whole saliva flow rate was found to be 1.6 ml/min (SD 0.8 ml/min) (Table 8). Stimulated saliva flow was significantly higher in men than in women in all age groups (Table 8). The medicated subjects had lower mean flow rates than unmedicated ones, the difference being statistically significant in women (p < 0.010) and in the over 60s, and in all subjects (p < 0.050). No difference in this respect was found in men (Table 9).

Table 8.	Stimulated	saliva flov	w rate (1	ml/min)	in all	patients	(group)	A, n =	187)

		$Men \\ (n = 101)$		Women (n = 86)		All $(n = 187)$		Significance between
Age	n	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	genders
20-40 yrs	36	2.0	0.8	1.5#	0.8	1.7	0.8	<0.050
41-60 yrs	88	1.8	0.9	1.3	0.8	1.6	0.9	< 0.010
>60 yrs	63	1.8	0.8	1.2#	0.5	1.6	0.7	< 0.001
All	187	1.8	0.9	1.3	0.7	1.6	0.8	< 0.001

# p < 0.050; significance between age groups.

Table 9. Stimulated saliva flow (ml/min) in unmedicated and medicated patients (group A, n = 187).

		Men (n=101)		Wom (n=8	Women (n=86)		37)	Significance between	
Age	n	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	genders	
Unmedicated									
20-40 yrs	31	1.9	0.8	1.6	0.8	1.7	0.8	N.S	
41-60 yrs	40	1.9	1.0	1.5	0.7	1.7	0.9	N.S	
>60 yrs	13	2.2	0.7	1.4	0.6	2.0*	0.8	< 0.050	
All	84	2.0	0.9	1.6**	0.7	1.8*	0.8	< 0.050	
Medicated									
20-40 yrs	6	2.3	0.8	1.0	0.9	1.7	1.0	N.S	
41-60 yrs	48	1.7	0.8	1.2	0.8	1.5	0.9	< 0.050	
>60 yrs	50	1.7	0.8	1.2	0.5	1.4*	0.7	< 0.010	
All	103	1.7	0.8	1.2**	0.7	1.5*	0.9	< 0.001	

\*\* p < 0.010; \* p < 0.050; significance between medicated and unmedicated.

#### 5.1.4. Saliva secretion in various medication groups

A statistically significant difference in stimulated saliva flow was found between unmedicated persons and those taking 1 - 2 or over 3 medicines daily (p < 0.050). No statistically significant

differences were found in resting saliva flow in this respect (Figure 3). The most often encountered medicines were for cardiovascular diseases and for gastro-intestinal disorders (Table 5).



Figure 3. Number of medicines used daily versus saliva flow (group A, n = 187). Stimulated saliva flow was lower in patients taking 1-2 medications or over 3 medications than in unmedicated patients. \* p < 0.050.

Antidepressants and other psychopharmaca known to reduce salivary secretion via an anticholinergic effect were used by 10 patients. Their mean flow rates were significantly lower than those of unmedicated patients: unstimulated flow  $0.3 \pm 0.3$  ml/min, stimulated flow  $1.2 \pm 0.6$  ml/min for the former and  $0.6 \pm 0.4$  ml/min and  $1.8 \pm 0.8$  ml/min for the latter (p < 0.050).

#### 5.1.5. Buffering capacity

The frequencies of buffering capacities of all the patients are presented in Figure 4. Women had more low values (pH < 4.0) than men (p < 0.001). When the frequencies were compared between unmedicated and medicated patients, no statistically significant differences were found in men, whereas in women the differences were significant (Table 10). When both the sexes were observed together, the difference between unmedicated and medicated patients became statistically significant (p < 0.001).



Figure 4. Buffering capacities in all subjects (group A, n = 187). Women had significantly more low scores than men (p < 0.001)

	pH < 4. n	0	4.5 < pH n	< 5.5	pH > 6 n	.0
<b>Men</b> (n = 101)						
Unmedicated $(n = 45)$ Medicated $(n = 56)$	3 3	(6%) (5%)	17 31	(38%) (55%)	25 22	(56%) (39%)
<b>Women</b> (n = 86)						
Unmedicated $(n = 39)$ Medicated $(n = 47)$	3 18	(8%)** (38%)**	15 20	(38%) (43%)	21 9	(54%)*** (19%)***

Table 10. Frequencies of buffering capacities in different subgroups (group A, n = 187).

\*\* p < 0.010; \*\*\* p < 0.001; differences between

unmedicated and medicated.

#### 5.1.6. Salivary yeasts

Of all the patients, 55% of men and 66% of women had positive salivary yeast counts. Altogether 63% of the medicated and 57% of the unmedicated patients had positive yeast counts. The differences were not statistically significant between sexes or between medication groups . However, patients with positive yeast counts had statistically significantly lower flow rates, with respect to both unstimulated and stimulated saliva (p < 0.010).

# 5.2. SALIVARY VISCOSITY AND FLOW RATES OF REPEATED SAMPLES (STUDY II)

#### 5.2.1 Observed data

The pilot study is presented in detail in Paper II. A fall in viscosity with higher shear rates was typical of a non-newtonian fluid exhibiting shear-thinning. We also measured viscosities of the fresh stimulated saliva samples and repeated this for the same samples 30 minutes after collection, and the results were almost the same (n =18, T =  $37^{\circ}$ C).

The means of the observed flow rates and viscosities in different samplings are given in Figures 5 and 6. Initial results were calculated on the basis of observed data. The viscosity of stimulated saliva remained steady throughout the samplings. There were no statistically significant differences between genders in flow rates or viscosities.



Figure 5. Daytime means of unstimulated and stimulated flow rates. Straight lines represent the respective mean flow rates (group B, n = 30).



Figure 6. Daytime means of viscosities of unstimulated and stimulated salivas. Straight lines represent the respective mean viscosities (group B, n = 30).

#### 5.2.2. Correlations of salivary viscosity and flow rate

When calculating the correlation coefficients between the variables at different sampling hours, it was observed that viscosities of unstimulated and stimulated salivas were correlated to each other at every sampling (r = 0.62, p < 0.001 at 17:00). Viscosities and respective flow rates were negatively and statistically significantly correlated to each other at every sampling hour (r = -0.43, p < 0.050 for unstimulated saliva and r = -0.53, p < 0.010 for stimulated saliva). Unstimulated and stimulated salivary flow rates were clearly correlated to each other at every sampling hour (r = 0.70, p < 0.001 at 17:00).

#### 5.2.3. Within-subject variation and correlations across samples

The MANOVA analysis for salivary flow rates and viscosities with covariates is shown in Table 11. Flow rates were used as covariates and gender as a between-subject factor in analysis for viscosity. The viscosity of unstimulated saliva was found to have statistically significant within-subject variation (p < 0.001). However, the viscosity of stimulated saliva showed no significant within-subject variation across samplings. Unstimulated saliva flow rate showed statistically significant within-subject variation (p < 0.001).

The inter-item correlations were highly significant for both flow rates (p < 0.001). Inter-item correlation for the viscosity of unstimulated saliva was also significant (p < 0.050).

Table 11. MANOVA for repeated measures with covariates and inter-item correlation coefficients (IIC) (group B, n = 30, 5 repeated samples).

Variable	F-value	Significance	IIC
Unstimulated flow	11.8	p < 0.001	0.82***
Stimulated flow	1.9	N.S.	0.88***
Viscosity, unstimulated <sup><math>\dagger</math></sup>	15.7	p < 0.001	0.54*
Viscosity, stimulated <sup>‡</sup>	0.8	N.S.	0.33

<sup>†</sup>Unstimulated and stimulated flow rates were used as covariates.

<sup>‡</sup>Stimulated flow rates were used as covariate. Gender was used as a between-subject factor in MANOVA.\*\*\* p < 0.001; \*p < 0.050, significance of inter-item correlations.

#### 5.3. PROTEINS IN REPEATED SAMPLES (STUDY III)

#### 5.3.1. Observed data

Group means, standard deviations and skewness values of all samplings are given in Table 12. There were no statistical differences between genders.

Table 12.	Group means,	SD and skewness	values for fi	ve repeated	samplings
in group E	3 (n = 30).				

Parameter	Mean	SD	Skewness
Unstimulated flow (ml/min)	0.3	0.2	1.5
Stimulated flow (ml/min)	1.6	0.7	0.6
Total protein (mg/ml)	1.2	0.4	0.8
Amylase (U/ml)	84.9	45.7	0.6
Albumin (µg/ml)	167.1	70.7	1.2
Lysozyme (mg/l)	103.4	77.5	1.4
IgA (mg/l)	37.4	16.8	0.9
IgM (mg/l)	4.5	3.5	1.2
IgG (mg/l)	11.4	9.2	1.8

The means of the observed concentrations at different time points and respective group means are given in Figures 7-10. The means of salivary flow rates at these time points are given in Figure 5. Salivary flow rates showed an increasing trend during the day.

The salivary IgA, IgG, IgM and albumin concentrations were at their highest in the morning, and they showed a decreasing trend during the day. Total protein, amylase and lysozyme concentrations showed an increasing trend from the morning to the evening samples.



Figure 7. Albumin concentration over the 12-h period of sampling. The straight line represents the mean albumin concentration (group B, n = 30).



Figure 8. Salivary amylase and total protein concentrations over the 12-h period of sampling. Straight lines represent the mean of concentrations of variables (group B, n = 30).



Figure 9. Salivary lysozyme and IgA concentrations over the 12-h period of sampling. Straight lines represent the mean concentrations of variables (group B, n = 30).



Figure 10. Salivary IgG and IgM concentrations over the 12-h period of sampling. Straight lines represent the mean concentrations of variables (group B, n = 30).

#### 5.3.2. Within-subject variation and correlations across samples

The MANOVA analysis with covariates is presented in Table 13. Flow rate and total protein concentration were used as covariates and gender as a between-subject factor. After this adjustment salivary IgA (p < 0.001), albumin (p < 0.010), amylase (p < 0.050) and total protein (p < 0.001) concentrations still varied statistically significantly. Gender did not significantly affect the variation in any of these parameters.

Table 13. MANOVA for repeated measures with covariates and inter-item correlations (IIC) (n =

Parameter	F	p-value	IIC
Total protein <sup>a</sup>	7.5	p < 0.001	0.80***
Amylase	3.0	p < 0.050	0.78***
Albumin	4.1	p < 0.010	0.79***
Lysozyme	1.6	N.S.	0.77***
IgA	6.7	p < 0.001	0.80***
IgM	0.5	N.S.	0.88***
IgG	0.9	N.S.	0.81***

30, 5 repeated samplings).

Flow rate and total protein concentration were used as covariates and gender as a between-subject factor in MANOVA.

<sup>a</sup>adjusted for flow rate only

\*\*\*p < 0.001

The inter-item correlations are also given in Table 13. There was a strong tendency for subjects to maintain a similar position relative to others across all samples, since IIC were significantly different from zero for all variables (p < 0.001).

# 5.3.3. Correlations between variables

Partial correlation coefficients and significances of the correlations between the variables in different samplings are presented in detail in Paper III. Flow rates and total protein concentrations were controlled for.

Total protein correlated significantly with amylase (r = 0.79, p < 0.001 at 14:00), albumin (r = 0.53, p < 0.010 at 14:00) and IgA (r = 0.39, p < 0.050 at 14:00) through different samplings. In addition, IgG correlated with albumin (r = 0.55, p < 0.010 at 14:00) and lysozyme (r = 0.58, p < 0.010 at 14:00) levels through one day.

#### 5.4. SALIVARY CORTISOL AND GROWTH HORMONE (STUDY IV)

#### 5.4.1. Observed data

Tables 14 and 15 show the basic characteristics of the salivary and serum samples. The salivary urea level was significantly higher in men than in women (p < 0.050). The salivary GH level was significantly higher in women than in men (p < 0.010). Serum cortisol and GH levels were also significantly higher in women than in men (p < 0.001).

	Wo	men	Men			All
Parameter	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Unstimulated flow (ml/min)	0.5	0.3	0.5	0.2	0.5	0.3
Stimulated flow (ml/min)	1.5	0.6	1.6	0.5	1.5	0.6
Protein (mg/ml)	0.8	0.3	0.8	0.2	0.8	0.8
Amylase (U/ml)#	34.9	25.1	45.3	22.0	39.6	24.1
Albumin (µg/ml)#	141.2	123.9	139.6	105.0	140.6	114.6
Urea (mmol/l)#	2.4	0.8	3.8	2.5	3.1*	1.9
IgA (mg/l)#	47.1	126.5	57.6	26.0	51.9	26.6
IgM (mg/l)#	5.1	4.0	3.6	2.2	4.4	3.4
IgG (mg/l)#	14.4	16.5	13.1	8.3	13.8	13.4

Table 14. Group C. Basic data of salivary samplings after 12-hour fasting (n = 51).

Difference between genders: \*p < 0.050. # previously unpublished.

	V	Vomen	Mer	1	All	
Saliva	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	Mean	SD
Cortisol (nmol/l)						
Unstimulated	20.0	5.6	25.1	23.6	22.3	16.4
Stimulated	19.5	5.5	20.8	14.5	20.0	10.4
GH (µU/l)						
Unstimulated	12.8	13.5	3.4	2.3	8.6**	11.1
Serum						
Cortisol (nmol/l)	809.5	261.4	514.1	139.6	676.3***	259.8
GH (mU/l)	27.4	25.6	2.9	9.4	16.4***	23.3
Radioimmunological method:						
GH (µg/l)	13.7	9.3	1.5	2.3	8.2***	9.3

Table 15. Serum and saliva cortisol and GH samplings after 12-hour fasting (group C, n = 51).

Difference between genders: \*\* p < 0.010; \*\*\* p < 0.001.

Distributions of cortisol and GH scores were substantially skewed, as is often the case with salivary data. To remove skewness in these values, concentrations were re-expressed as base 10 logs. This is explained in more detail in Paper IV.

### 5.4.2. Correlations between serum and saliva levels

Partial correlations were calculated between the serum and saliva levels of these hormones. Salivary cortisol was significantly associated with the serum cortisol level (r = 0.47, p < 0.001) (Figure 11). Correlations were also calculated separately for genders (women r = 0.57, p < 0.050; men r = 0.36, N.S.).

Salivary and serum GH levels also correlated significantly with each other (r = 0.59, p < 0.001) (Figure 12). The correlation was higher in men (women r = 0.45, p < 0.050; men r = 0.58, p < 0.010). The two different methods for analyzing GH serum concentrations correlated significantly with each other (r = 0.90, p < 0.001).

Partial correlations between salivary and serum cortisol and GH levels and other variables were also calculated. Salivary hormone levels did not correlate with other salivary

variables. Serum GH correlated negatively with salivary urea (r = -0.32, p < 0.050). Serum cortisol level correlated negatively with salivary lysozyme (r = -0.37, p < 0.010) and serum GH (r = 0.46, p < 0.001).



Figure 11. Correlation between serum total cortisol and stimulated saliva cortisol levels in group C (n = 51) after 12-h fasting.



Figure 12. Correlation between serum GH and unstimulated saliva GH levels in group C (n = 51) after 12-h fasting.

# 5.5. SALIVARY ALBUMIN (STUDY V)

### 5.5.1. Patients' diseases and medications

The differences in the basic characteristics of group D, between hospitalized patients and outpatients and between those who died and survivors are given in Table 4.

Table 16. Percent distribution of use of drugs in group D. Each patient may concomitantly use several drugs.

	Hospitalized patients	Outpatients
	(n = 131)	(n = 252)
Antimicrobial	19.8 %	6.3 %
Cardiovascular	77.9 %	65.5 %
Respiratory	13.0 %	6.7 %
Gastrointestinal	38.2 %	12.7 %
Sex hormones	1.5 %	2.4 %
Psychiatric	53.4 %	14.7 %
Neurological	6.1 %	7.1 %
Antihistamines	3.8 %	5.6 %
Endocrinological	35.9 %	19.4 %
Dermatological	0.8%	5.2 %
Analgesics	47.3 %	38.5 %
Electrolytes	9.2 %	4.8 %
Hematological	24.4 %	11.1%
Vitamins	10.7 %	2.4 %
Ophthalmological	8.4 %	6.7 %

Table 16 gives the medication groups of the hospitalized patients and outpatients. The higher percentages of systemic diseases among the outpatients are based on interview data. Both the hospitalized (39.7%) and outpatients (68.3%) had cardiovascular diseases. In the hospitalized patients, next in prevalence were endocrinologic (16.0%) and psychiatric (9.2%) diseases, whereas in outpatients musculoskeletal (56.3%), neurologic (43.7%) and urogenital (25.4%) were the most prevalent.

	Hospitalized patients	Outpatients
	(n = 131)	(n = 252)
Percent edentulous	64.1	42.1***
Mean no of teeth with SD	11.0 ∂ 7.4	9.5 ∂ 9.9
Mean no of carious teeth	2.2 2 2.8	0.6 ∂ 0.9**
CPI score (%)		
0	2.3	0
1	-	0.8
2	12.2	25.8
3	10.7	16.3
4	8.4	15.5**#
9	66.4	41.7
Percent with mucosal pathology	19.8	37.8 **

Table 17. Oro-dental findings of group D.

\*\* p < 0.010, \*\*\* p < 0.001 between hospitalized patients and outpatients. # The significance in CPI values is calculated for total scores. Differences between patients who died and survivors were not statistically significant.

The main oro-dental findings of the hospitalized patients and outpatients are given in Table 17. The number of patients with mucosal pathology was greatest among outpatients. Among hospitalized, more mucosal changes had been recorded in patients who later died.

#### 5.5.2. Salivary data

Mean salivary values are given in Table 18. The outpatients had significantly higher flow rates and less frequently positive yeast counts in saliva than patients taken to the hospital. Significantly higher yeast counts (>10<sup>4</sup> CFU/ml) were also observed in the hospitalized patients than in outpatients, but, contrary to our expectation, the yeast counts were more often positive in the survivors than among those who died (p < 0.050). Total protein and albumin concentrations were significantly higher in hospitalized patients than in outpatients (p < 0.001). Albumin output was also significantly higher in hospitalized patients than in outpatients (p < 0.001). In hospitalized patients, the salivary flow rate was negatively associated with higher than median concentrations of albumin (r = -0.36, p < 0.001) and urea (r = -0.20, p < 0.010).

The median age of the hospitalized patients was 82 years (survived 80, died 83 years), and that of the outpatients 76 years. The salivary albumin concentration was higher in all hospitalized patients and outpatients who were older than the median than in younger ones: 482.4  $\partial$  333.8 µg/ml vs. 366.6  $\partial$  264.6 µg/ml (p < 0.050) in hospitalized patients, 470.8  $\partial$  320.9 µg/ml vs. 226.2  $\partial$  174.7 µg/ml (p < 0.010) in outpatients. The albumin concentration increased statistically significantly in relation to the number of drugs used daily, both in hospitalized patients (p < 0.050) and in outpatients (p < 0.050).

Patients with the highest need for periodontal treatment (CPI score 2 - 4) did not have higher salivary albumin concentrations than those with less need for treatment. Salivary albumin did not correlate significantly with the number of concomitant systemic diseases of hospitalized patients and outpatients. Higher values were detected in patients suffering from cardiovascular and respiratory diseases than in other diagnosis groups.

The results of the logistic regression analysis relating to high salivary albumin concentration are given in Table 19. In outpatients, retaining own teeth and age were risk factors of clinical importance, while the use of analgesics was a risk factor in hospitalized patients.

In 68 % of those who died, salivary flow was below 0.7 ml/min, indicating hyposalivation. The respective figure among survivors was 47 % (p < 0.010). Altogether 69 % of the patients who died had suffered from dry mouth, according to the questionnaire results, compared with 59 % of survivors. The difference in xerostomia was not statistically significant, however. The strongest "saliva-associated risk factors for death" in the survival analysis were salivary flow rate (OR 2.7;

	Hospitaliz	Outpatients				
	(n=131	(n=252)				
	Survived	Died				
	(n=84)	(n=47)				
Salivary flow rate (ml/min)	0.9 ± 0.6	0.8 ± 0.5	1.3 ± 0.7***			
Yeast count (% positive)	84.8%	71.7% #	66.1%**			
Total protein (mg/ml)	2.3 ± 1.0	$2.6 \pm 1.7$	$1.6 \pm 0.8^{***}$			
Albumin output ( $\sigma$ g/min)	684.3 2 396.8	700.0 ∂ 481.9	439.7 ∂ 432.8***			
Albumin (µg/ml)	$401.2 \pm 247.3$	$501.1 \pm 417.3$	204.6 ± 179.5***			
Urea (mmol/l)	$6.4 \pm 3.9$	$8.0 \pm 4.8$	4.9 ± 2.2* **			

95 % CI 1.4-5.2; p < 0.010), the number of drugs used daily (OR 1.2; CI 1.0-1.3; p < 0.050) and

Table 18. Salivary values of subject group D.

high salivary urea concentration (OR 1.1; CI 1.1-1.2; p < 0.010).

# p < 0.050 between survivors and hospitalized patients who died.

\*\*p < 0.010 between hospitalized patients and outpatients.

\*\*\*p < 0.001 between hospitalized patients and outpatients.

Hospitalized patien $(n = 131)$	ts				
Factor	Beta coefficient	SE	OR	95 % CI	Significance (p)
Use of analgesics	1.4	0.5	4.2	1.5 - 11.4	< 0.010
Use of vitamins	1.4	0.7	4.2	1.0 - 17.1	< 0.050
Neoplasia	2.5	1.2	12.3	1.2 - 129.0	< 0.050
Saliva flow rate	-1.3	0.5	0.3	0.1 - 0.7	< 0.010
Outpatients $(n = 252)$					
Factor	Beta coefficient	SE	OR	95 % CI	Significance (p)
Ophthalmological medicines	2.5	1.2	12.0	1.2 - 115.6	< 0.050
Age	0.1	0.04	1.2	1.1 - 1.3	< 0.001
Own teeth retained	1.5	0.4	4.3	1.9 - 9.3	< 0.010
High buffering capacity	-1.0	0.4	0.4	0.1 - 0.9	< 0.050

Table 19. Results of logistic regression analyses on the power of factors affecting higher than median salivary albumin values (group D).

# 6. DISCUSSION

In the following sections the materials, methods and results of this thesis will be discussed and summarized.

# 6.1. SALIVARY FLOW-AND THE EFFECT OF MEDICATION ON IT (STUDIES I, II AND V)

One of the most important factors in salivary diagnosis is that the time of collection should be specified for diagnostic purposes. In the first study we did not specify the time of saliva collection. However, in that study samples were collected between 9 a.m. and 12 a.m. Our further studies with a repeated-measures-design (study II) showed that the within-subject variation of salivary flow rates during a day was significant, which is in agreement with earlier results (Ferguson and Fort, 1974). This emphasizes the need to specify the sampling time.

In the first study, the patients consisted of consecutive adult patients seeking dental treatment at the University Dental Clinic in Kuopio during the years 1992-1993. The Dental Clinic did not select the patients for the examinations, so that people from the area could freely come and participate in the study.

The salivary values obtained (study I) were in agreement with the mean values published by Parvinen and Larmas (1981) for an epidemiological sample of 1,105 adult Finns aged over 30 years: 1.79 ml/min for stimulated saliva. Parvinen and Larmas did not measure unstimulated saliva. Salivary values have been published for 629 patients from the University of Lund, Sweden, where the majority of the subjects had stimulated flow rates of 1.0 - 2.5 ml/min, and resting flow rates of 0.1 - 0.5 ml/min (Bratthall and Carlsson, 1986). The mean stimulated saliva flow rate value obtained also fall within the recommendations for reference values published in the Textbook of Cariology, representing the Nordic countries with the following value on average: 1.5 ml/min for stimulated flow (Ericson and Mäkinen, 1986). The unstimulated saliva flow rate in this study was somewhat higher than reference values for unstimulated flow, 0.25 - 0.35 ml/min (Ericson and Mäkinen, 1986). It is obviously practically impossible to obtain true unstimulated saliva, since saliva flow is always influenced by some kind of stimulation. Even slight movements of the tongue, cheeks, jaws or lips should be avoided (Tenovuo and Lagerlöf, 1994). In this study the patients spat the saliva

The range of normality is so broad that no reference values exist for the whole population (Ship et al., 1991). In order to reach the norm employed for decades in clinical chemistry and hematology, namely to give reference values based on means with two standard deviations, a lot more research must be done with saliva. The patients' subjective feelings of dry mouth are usually not associated with a particular level of saliva secretion capacity (Nederfors et al., 1997), but different results have also been published (Bergdahl, 2000), which complicates reaching an agreement on salivary reference values in clinical practice. However, information regarding salivary flow rate in adults is undoubtedly important in understanding and evaluating the relationships between salivary flow and various types of oral complaints in patients (Bergdahl, 2000).

Earlier studies, and these studies also, show that women have significantly lower flow rates than men. This difference has been suggested to be due to the size of the salivary glands (Dawes et al., 1978). In menopause, many women seem to suffer from xerostomia, which then ameliorates in older age (Parvinen and Larmas, 1982). In a study by Tarkkila et al. (2001) it was found that the occurrence of dry mouth in menopause-aged women was as high as 19.9% (n = 631) and occurrence of painful mouth 8.2% (n = 259).

In our repeated-measures-design study (study II) the correlations between unstimulated and stimulated flow rates were significant, a finding which is in agreement with earlier results. In a study by Navazesh and Christensen (1982), stimulation produced a fairly constant addition of saliva irrespective of low or high individual unstimulated flow levels. In the first sampling in the morning, the salivary flow rates were lowest, which is in agreement with other results. The collection procedure was practised several times beforehand in order to reduce the bias in repeated measurements, which is important in this kind of study. In a study by Laine et al. (1999) it was found that salivary flow rates showed significant variation between repeated samplings over a 7-week period. Also in that study the flow rate in the first sampling was the lowest, and the trend in the following samplings was increasing.

The salivary flow rates measured in the elderly (study V) were also not as low as we had expected. In our clinic, the lower reference limit for paraffin wax-stimulated salivary flow was 0.7 ml/min. Values below this indicate hyposalivation. Neither the hospitalized patients nor the outpatients had mean flow rates that low, and even patients who later died had mean flow rates above this reference limit. However, salivary flow rates in the elderly were lower than in healthy adult patients in general. Obvious explanatory factors for the lower flow rates were various diseases and use of drugs. The majority of elderly patients in eastern Finland are denture wearers, as was the case in this study. It has been found that retention of complete dentures is adversely influenced by the secretion rate of the minor salivary glands (Niedermeier and Kramer, 1992). It is probable that elderly patients will therefore have additional problems with dentures as salivary flow rates decrease. It seems that old age as such does not cause diminished salivary flow (Shern et al., 1993; Närhi et al., 1999). However, some studies suggest that unstimulated salivary flow is related to age (Navazesh et al., 1992b, Percival et al., 1994; Yeh et al., 1998). It has also been suggested that there are some age-related alterations in salivary function (Yeh et al., 1998). In a study by Närhi et al. (1992) on very old home-dwelling people, medication was clearly the reason for reduced saliva flow. There are hundreds of different medicines which may reduce saliva flow through various mechanisms (Sreebny and Schwartz, 1997). Multiple systemic disorders and medications have been reported to cause xerostomia and/or salivary gland hypofunction (Navazesh et al., 1996). In an epidemiological study by Parvinen et al. (1984), the most frequently encountered medicines that were found to cause hyposalivation were diuretics, other drugs for cardiovascular diseases, and psychopharmaca. Medicines for cardiovascular diseases were the most frequently consumed drugs also among the elderly with reduced salivary flow in the study by Närhi et al. (1992). In 5002 dental outpatients surveyed in the universities of Kentucky and Texas, cardiovascular medicines were used daily by 23.1% of the 18- to 80- year-olds, representing the most common group of medication taken (Miller et al., 1992). Our patients in this study were over 70 years of age and suffered from a number of systemic diseases and took several drugs daily. The drugs were anticipated to cause dry mouth far more often than we observed. The xerostomia was reported by 69% of the patients who died, in comparison with 59% among the survivors. It is known from previous studies that xerostomia is not necessarily reflected in the actually measured flow rates, however (Nederfors et al., 1997).

In the first study, the results showing the significance of cardiovascular medicines in relation to salivary secretion were not unexpected in this respect (Tables 7 and 9). Clearly, the patient suffering from cardiovascular diseases is indeed a dental risk patient also regarding potential risk for reduced salivary flow due to his/her medication. However, many other medicines, in particular those with an anticholinergic effect, must also be taken into account. In the first study, the second most frequently used group of medicines found to cause reduced salivary flow were drugs for gastro-intestinal diseases; this group contains mainly H<sub>2</sub>-receptor blocking agents but also anticholinergics, and hyposalivation is a well-known side effect of such drugs.

In the study V we also recorded subjects' medical history and daily used drugs (Table 16). Cardiovascular drugs, analgesics and endocrinological drugs were the most commonly used medications among outpatients. In the hospitalized patients, cardiovascular drugs, psychiatric drugs and analgesics were the most frequently used medications. Many patients did fall into the category of hyposalivation, and particularly those who died had had lower flow rates than the survivors or the outpatients at the start of the study. There were noticeable differences in the use of drugs, showing that the outpatients used more cardiovascular drugs and fewer phychiatric drugs. The higher proportion of psychiatric illnesses in the hospitalized patients could be a factor simultaneously affecting salivary flow rate, too.

This study was not a two-year longitudinal investigation. Both the hospitalized patients and outpatients had been examined cross - sectionally at the beginning of the study and only mortality was followed up to two years. In retrospect it would have been interesting to take repeated saliva samples from the hospitalized patients but for practical reasons this was not possible. The examination was carried out in the acute geriatric ward and most patients were sent home, to nursing homes, or to other hospitals after their acute medical condition had been treated. The outpatients, on the other hand, were elderly patients who returned home the same day they had been examined. Unfortunately, the mean age of the outpatients was lower than that of the hospitalized patients, which is an evident bias in this study. The medical record of the hospitalized was based on the physician's examination at the time of hospitalization, while that of the outpatients was derived from their medical history and verbal report. Therefore, data regarding the number and distribution of systemic diseases and daily use of drugs are more reliable for the hospitalized patients than the outpatients. This is an evident source of error in this study, but it could not be avoided. Our principal aim was not to examine the medical status of the outpatients, but rather collect their saliva samples for comparison, because, as stated, there were no reference data on salivary albumin in the elderly. The community where the study was carried out was fairly small and the area is not densely populated. The population demographics did not allow the recruitment of enough age- and sexmatched material for this kind of study. It may therefore be anticipated that the patients represented the community, allowing us, according to our principal aim, to study the acutely hospitalized in comparison with those who were not in urgent need of medical attention.

#### 6.2. SALIVARY BUFFERING CAPACITY (STUDY I)

Low buffering capacity of saliva is associated with a reduced salivary flow and increased risk for caries, in particular (Heintze et al., 1983). In a study by Heintze et al. (1983) it was found that low Dentobuff scores (final pH < 4.0) were found more often in women than in men. In the elderly, low Dentobuff scores were observed in 24% of over 75-year-olds, and high scores in 51% (Närhi et al., 1993). In people with diseases, such as diabetics and those suffering from malignant diseases, low buffering capacity of saliva seems to reflect systemic acidosis and may, consequently, be a sign of a worsening medical condition (Laine et al., 1992). In our study, low buffering capacity was more often found in patients with medication than in unmedicated ones, which supports the view that low

70

buffering capacity of saliva may indeed be associated with systemic diseases. However, the most important factor affecting salivary buffering capacity is salivary flow rate.

#### 6.3. YEAST COUNTS (STUDIES I AND V)

The frequency of positive salivary yeast counts in these studies were somewhat higher than what has been reported in earlier studies with healthy adults. We found positive yeast counts in 63% of the medicated and in 57% of the unmedicated patients (study I), and in 66% of the outpatients and in 85% of the survived hospitalized patients (study V). In a review by Odds (1988) the prevalence of yeasts in saliva in healthy persons was found to be 37%. However, in denture wearers yeasts may be cultivated from 85% of the subjects (Vandenbussche and Swinne, 1983). In the study by Parvinen and Larmas (1981) the frequency of positive yeast counts was 59% in all subjects, and in the study of the elderly by Närhi et al. (1993) the respective figure was 75%. In the first study we did not correlate the occurrence of yeasts with the patients' other orodental findings but the medicated subjects had more often positive yeast counts than the unmedicated ones. Yeasts are commensals of the oral cavity in the majority of adult patients but many diseases may predispose to their dissemination (Odds, 1988). Reduced salivary flow increases the risk for high yeast counts with subsequent infection, which is also supported by the results of these studies (Navazesh et al., 1995). Low buffering capacity has also been shown to be associated with high

yeast counts (Närhi et al., 1993).

We found (study V) that yeast counts were more often positive in the hospitalized patients than outpatients but, astonishingly, patients who died had lower yeast counts than those who survived. We had anticipated the opposite to be true in this parameter since yeast infections are known to be prevalent in the frail elderly (Samaranayake, 1986; Stenderup, 1990; Lockhart et al., 1999). Patients who died also had elevated salivary urea levels, which is known to increase the pH of the environment. This could partly explain the lower yeast counts in these patients.

It has been found that smoking is strongly associated with the presence of yeasts and lactobacilli counts, independently of the oral status, oral hygiene or salivary factors (Sakki and Knuuttila, 1996). We did not investigate the patients' smoking habits, and this is an evident source of error in this study.

#### 6.4. SALIVARY VISCOSITY (STUDY II)

In salivary diagnosis, viscosity has not been demonstrated as a clinically relevant variable. However, the apparent viscosity contributes to the rheological properties of saliva, and the elastic properties could be important as well (van der Reijden et al., 1993). The efficacy of saliva as a lubricant depends on its viscosity and how it changes with shear rate. This is thought to be especially important for patients using removable, partial or whole, dentures.

Many different kinds of viscometers have been used in previous salivary viscosity measurements. It has been reported that the apparent viscosity of saliva depends on the shear rate and time, so that saliva is a non-Newtonian fluid (Roberts, 1982; Schwarz, 1987). The viscometer used, a standard Brookfield digital cone/plate microviscometer, should be suitable for such systems. This apparatus gives the apparent viscosity in centipoises and shear stresses in dynes/cm<sup>2</sup>. Such viscometers have also been used in salivary viscosity studies (Levine et al., 1987).

We studied salivary viscosity in a healthy, homogenous study group. Salivary viscosity should also be studied in medicated and diseased patients, so that we can get a better understanding of saliva and its function as a lubricant in different clinical situations. It has also been suggested that the quality of saliva could be as important as salivary flow rate to oral health and comfort (Chimenos-Kustner and Marques-Soares, 2002).

The within-subject variation of the viscosity of unstimulated saliva in repeated samplings was significant in our study. On the other hand, the viscosity of stimulated saliva seemed to remain stable through the repeated samplings. We did not find significant differences between genders in the viscosity of unstimulated or stimulated saliva. We used salivary flow rates as varying covariates in our analysis, since the viscosity of saliva can be subject to variation due to differences between the subjects' flow rates. Without the analysis of covariance, the within-subject variation in the viscosity of unstimulated saliva would not have been significant.

Our results suggest that the viscosity of unstimulated saliva is influenced by salivary flow rate, but there could be also another explanation for within-subject variation of viscosity. One possible reason for this could be changes in salivary composition in different samplings. It is assumed that the rheological properties of human saliva may be due to the salivary glycoproteins, mainly due to the highmolecular-weight mucin-glycoproteins (MG1), which are mainly secreted by the sublingual, submandibular and palatal glands. Differences in viscoelasticity between submandibular and sublingual salivas is not due to the differences in mucin concentrations in those secretions, but to the mucin species (van der Reijden et al., 1993). It seems that sublingual mucins are more elastic than submandibular and palatal mucins (van der Reijden et al., 1993).
It was also found that stimulated saliva remained viscosimetrically steady over a full day. The explanation for this could be the increased proportion of parotid secretion during masticatory stimulation and lower concentration of salivary glycoproteins in stimulated saliva. Salivary mucins, which are thought to have lubricating properties, are secreted mainly by sublingual, submandidular and palatal glands. This supports the theory of an association between salivary glycoproteins and salivary viscosity (van der Reijden et al., 1993).

The IIC for salivary flow rates and viscosity of unstimulated saliva were high, indicating that the rankings of subjects for these variables tended to be maintained across the samplings. The IIC for viscosity of stimulated saliva was not statistically significant, though. This means that the rankings of subjects for viscosity of stimulated saliva were not maintained across the samplings, but fluctuated randomly.

There were no statistically significant differences between genders in salivary viscosities, and gender did not affect the within-subject variation of salivary viscosities or flow rates. It needs to be remembered in this context that our study group comprised healthy, unmedicated students of the same age.

The results from the our pilot study indicated that stimulated saliva seems to be enzymatically steady viscosimetrically, as there were no differences in viscosimetric properties between fresh and 30 min old stimulated saliva samples stored at room temperature. This is a surprising result, since it has been generally recommended that viscosity should be determined from fresh saliva samples, but it has also been shown that the viscosity of unstimulated saliva under experimental conditions was relatively stable for the first 5-8 minutes after collection (Roberts, 1977). It would have been interesting to test this also in unstimulated saliva.

#### 6.5. SALIVARY PROTEINS (STUDIES III, IV AND V)

It is established that salivary flow rate and composition of saliva vary rhythmically over 24 h periods (Dawes and Ong, 1973). Earlier investigations have mainly focused on inorganic constituents of saliva. The relative concentrations of the organic salivary constituents are known to depend on salivary flow rate (Rudney, 1989), but their fluctuation during a single day has not been investigated earlier. We used stimulated saliva as a test sample, since it is more easily collected, collection method is standardized and stimulated saliva is less adversely affected by storage than unstimulated saliva. Unstimulated saliva is also more difficult to collect enough for various

73

laboratory analysis. Hence, stimulated saliva is widely used for clinical studies and research purposes.

The repeated-measures-design experiments (studies II-III) were designed as a cross-sectional type of study, rather than a longitudinal type, in which the rhythms of single subjects are followed over several days (Ferguson et al., 1973; Ferguson and Fort, 1974). However, sampling procedure was practised several times before the saliva collections, to reduce the practise effect of repeated samplings. Another way of examining the temporal changes would have been the longitudinal method, in which the consistency of rhythms is studied in single subjects for a longer period. In most previous studies, saliva samples have been collected over a period of several days but only from a few subjects at a time (Ferguson et al., 1973). The subjects were instructed to eat breakfast at 6:30 a.m., and they were told not to eat, drink or smoke for 1 h before each sampling. However, we did not give instructions about other meal times during the day, which is an evident bias in this study. We used more time points and more subjects than most previous reports, and saliva samples were collected by the same researcher. In the light of these studies it seems that salivary sampling times between 11:00 and 14:00 are recommended, since most of the studied variables were closest to the daily mean at those time points.

There are only a few published reports on temporal variation of salivary proteins (Oberg et al., 1982; Jenzano et al., 1987; McGurk et al., 1990). Our results (study III) for these proteins are comparable with those previously reported. Our results are in agreement with the findings of Jenzano et al. (1987), who studied temporal variation of glandular kallikrein, amylase and total protein in stimulated human saliva in four repeated samplings. They also found significant differences for total protein and amylase levels within days, and the lowest values in the morning. Our observations of ranges for salivary IgA levels in stimulated whole saliva are in agreement with earlier findings in stimulated parotid fluid, although the pattern of hourly variation is different (Stutchell and Mandel, 1978). A negative correlation between stimulated flow rate and IgA concentrations has also been reported (Brandtzaeg, 1989). On the other hand, Bennet and Reade (1982) did not find any significant relationship between time of day and IgA concentration. Butler et al. (1990) found some fluctuations in IgA in whole saliva, but the levels were still more characteristic of the patient than the time of sampling. We did not find statistically significant variation in lysozyme concentrations in repeated samplings, though the trend was increasing from morning to the evening samples. However, Palenstein Helderman (1976) found variations in lysozyme in whole saliva as well as in saliva from the labial sulcus. On the whole, lysozyme concentrations of our subjects were somewhat higher than reported earlier for stimulated whole saliva (Tenovuo, 1989), though comparisons between different studies are difficult.

Our observations suggested that there was significant within-subject variation in salivary IgA, total protein, amylase and albumin levels. On the other hand, the hourly changes in lysozyme, IgM and IgG concentrations were statistically not significant.

Some relationships between salivary proteins could be seen in the results of the repeated measures experiments (study III). Amylase was negatively correlated with the other salivary proteins except total protein. Albumin, which is often used as a marker for the degree of mucositis or inflammation in the oral cavity (Isutzu et al., 1981), correlated well with IgG levels and partly with IgA levels. Lysozyme and IgG also correlated with each other. We did not find any significant relationship between lysozyme and IgA, which is in agreement with an earlier study by Rudney (1989). On the other hand, in one previous study lysozyme, lactoferrin and IgA correlated closely with each other (Rudney and Smith, 1985). On the whole, in our study the correlations remained rather steady during different samplings. However, some correlations, for example IgA and albumin, were not steady during a day, though the effect of salivary flow rate and total protein concentrations were controlled for.

It was also found that rankings of the subjects for total protein, amylase, albumin, lysozyme, IgA, IgM and IgG tended to be steady across samplings. This finding is also in agreement with that of Rudney et al. (1985), who found that subjects retain rankings for total protein, lysozyme, lactoferrin and salivary peroxidase even week-by-week.

In the repeated-measures study (studies II and III) salivary flow rates showed an increasing trend during the day. The salivary IgA, IgG, IgM and albumin concentrations were at their highest in the morning, and they showed a decreasing trend during the day. This can be partly due to the reduced flow rate in the morning. Another possible explanation could be the capacity for storage of IgA in salivary glands, so that the concentration would therefore be higher at the first sampling. On the other hand, total protein, amylase and lysozyme concentrations showed an increasing trend from the morning to the evening samples.

Variation in flow rates makes the interpretation of salivary concentrations difficult. It may be misleading to quantitate salivary protein levels without taking the salivary flow rate into consideration. Unfortunately, the reference protein for saliva has not been found, as the creatinine for urea. In this study amylase concentrations were strongly related to changes in flow rate and total protein concentration. Amylase is thought to be an indicator of acinar cell function in parotid glands (Almståhl et al., 2001), and its concentrations in this study during a day followed closely the increasing trend of salivary secretion rates and total protein (Fig. 8). It has also been found earlier that the concentration of amylase increases with the flow rate (Pedersen et al., 2002), and the profile of total salivary protein is largely influenced by the concentration of amylase (Brandtzaeg, 1989).

On the other hand, albumin showed a decreasing trend during a day. When taking salivary flow rate into consideration, the total amount of albumin (albumin output) secreted during a day is probably more stable.

In the growth hormone study (study IV), we also analyzed some basic salivary parameters in the samples collected at 8:00 after 12 hours fasting (Table 14). It may be assumed that the salivary variables were affected by fasting of twelve hours to some extent. Salivary amylase levels (39.6 U/ml  $\pm$  24.1 U/ml) were lower when compared with our results in study III (84.9 U/ml  $\pm$  45.7 U/ml; p < 0.010). A trend of lower total protein concentration (0.8 mg/ml  $\pm$  0.8 mg/ml) was also found (1.2 mg/ml  $\pm$  0.4 mg/ml; N.S), respectively.

When comparing the salivary values and composition of elderly patients (study V) with data from other patient materials, the observed values were not quite the same as those for adult patients representing different age groups previously reported from our laboratory (Meurman and Rantonen, 1994; Meurman et al., 1998; Rantonen and Meurman, 2000). We can compare the results of the elderly patients with the results of the repeated-measures-design (study III). When comparing total protein concentrations, we can see higher levels in hospitalized patients (survived mean 2.3 mg/ml  $\partial$  1.0 mg/ml, died 2.6 mg/ml  $\partial$  1.7 mg/ml) than in outpatients (mean 1.6 mg/ml  $\partial$  0.8 mg/ml; p < 0.001) or in healthy students (daily mean 1.2 mg/ml  $\pm$  0.4 mg/ml, p < 0.001). Hence, it seems that total protein levels also increase in the frail elderly population.

#### 6.6. SALIVARY CORTISOL AND GROWTH HORMONE (STUDY IV)

These two hormones (cortisol and GH) were monitored from saliva because previous studies on the metabolism of fasting have shown that concentrations of these stress hormones in blood increase during fasting. GH stimulates lipolytic activity and ketogenesis during fasting (Keller et al., 1984). In general, salivary diagnosis for analyzing the concentrations of these hormones would provide benefit over repeated blood samples. The diagnostic utility of single plasma cortisol concentration is limited by the episodic nature of cortisol secretion and its appropriate elevations during stress. In addition, only the unbound, free fraction of cortisol is thought to be biologically active (Tyrrell et al., 1994a). One possible advantage of salivary cortisol measurement is the hypothesis that it reflects the free fraction in plasma.

GH circulates mainly unbound in plasma and has a half-life of 20-50 minutes. Plasma GH values also fluctuate widely, and functional tests must be utilized for the diagnosis of GH deficiency or excess (Tyrrell et al., 1994b).

#### 6.6.1. Cortisol

Cortisol, which is a glucocorticoid secreted by the adrenal cortex, is a well-known stress hormone with many functions, such as the regulation of cAMP (Newsholme and Leech, 1983). It has been found that normally approximately 70% of total plasma cortisol is bound to CBG, 20% to albumin, and 10 % is free (Tyrrell et al., 1994a).

The concentrations of stress hormones in blood increase during fasting. Cortisol secretion follows a diurnal rhythm with peak concentrations in the morning, and concentrations vary greatly during the day (Newsholme and Leech, 1983). Levels are increased in patients who are acutely ill, during surgery and following trauma. Total plasma cortisol concentrations may also be increased in severe anxiety, endogenous depression, starvation, anorexia nervosa and chronic renal failure (Tyrrell et al., 1994a).

Salivary cortisol concentrations have been stated to be about 20% lower than plasma free levels. Some of the salivary cortisol metabolism has been thought to take place within the salivary glands (Read, 1989). Its functions in the oral cavity, however, are not known. Salivary cortisol determinations have been used previously to elucidate its role in stress (Cook et al., 1987; Raff et al., 2002). The previously published correlation coefficients for serum free cortisol vs. salivary cortisol concentrations range from r = 0.86 to r = 0.97. Thus, our present material fell far behind the optimum in this respect (r = 0.47). We measured total serum cortisol concentration in this study, which partly explains the weak correlation. Another explanation could be the relatively small number of subjects in the present study; otherwise, our test group was a homogenous one, all members being healthy and unmedicated students.

In this study, the levels of total serum cortisol were higher than widely accepted reference values for morning samples (80 – 550 nmol/l) (Tyrrell et al., 1994a), especially in women. Women had significantly higher serum total cortisol values than men (p < 0.001). However, these samples were taken after 12-hours fasting, and single measurement of serum total cortisol may easily be elevated in stress. Salivary cortisol levels (20.0 nmol/l  $\pm$  10.4 nmol/l) were also somewhat higher than normal reference values in the morning (12.5 nmol/l  $\pm$  4.9 nmol/l; Diacor, 1992), but there was no difference between genders. This propably reflects an elevated free fraction in serum.

An important component of the host response in periodontal inflammation is gingival crevicular fluid, with constituents mainly derived from serum. Cortisol has also been measured in gingival crevicular fluid, and the total concentration of cortisol in gingival crevicular fluid might be below 10% of that in serum (Axtelius et al., 1998). How much of that flows into saliva is not known, but it may be assumed that the amount is not significant.

#### 6.6.2. Growth hormone

This study was the first to assess growth hormone in human saliva. However, there are published reports on GH in saliva in mice and rats (Alexander et al., 1989; Baum et al., 1999). GH is a peptide hormone which contains 191 amino acids and it is secreted in pulses from the anterior part of the pituitary gland (Becker et al., 1990). Its function in the oral cavity is not known.

Routine methods used in clinical chemistry for the assessment of GH, such as the RIA method used in the present study for serum samples, were not directly applicable for the detection of the tiny amounts of GH in saliva. Therefore, we used an immunoradiometric assay originally developed for urine samples (Helenius et al., 1989). As it is important to use identical methods for both fluids, serum GH concentrations were also measured by immunoradiometric method.

Because only minor amounts of GH were detected in saliva, it can be assumed that it is not actively excreted saliva, and that salivary GH rather represents serum ultrafiltrate and is probably part of the free fraction of plasma, devoid of any binding globulin. Further, GH is a large molecule (molecular weight 21.500) and it is unlikely that it can diffuse freely from serum to saliva as steroid hormones, for example, whose size is much smaller (Read, 1989). The tiny amounts of GH detected in saliva also speak against any particular active transport system within the salivary glands and ducts. However, we cannot exclude the possibility that GH might still be excreted into the salivary gland secretions since we sampled whole saliva, or rather oral fluid, which is known to contain a variety of degradative enzymes and microbial products which may also degrade GH molecules. Salivary GH level was about 1900-fold less than in serum in all subjects. In men, the salivary GH level was about 850-fold less, and in women about 2100-fold less than in serum.

The early morning serum GH concentration in fasting adults is normally less than 5  $\mu$ g/l (Tyrrell et al., 1994b). In this study, levels were somewhat higher (8.2  $\mu$ g/l  $\pm$  9.3  $\mu$ g/l; RIA method). It was also found that there was significant difference between the genders in salivary GH (p < 0.001), and also in serum GH with both methods used (p < 0.001). Women had significantly higher levels than men, which has not been detected earlier. This is probably due to the 12 hours fasting and the stressful sampling situation, which might have affected more female subjects. It has been found earlier that there is no difference between genders in serum GH concentrations (Tyrrell et al., 1994b).

Thus, further studies are needed to explain the secretion and eventual function of GH in saliva. However, we found a correlation between serum and salivary GH levels, which is a surprising result considering the size of the GH molecule. The assay for salivary GH may offer interesting perspectives for salivary research.

#### 6.7. SALIVARY ALBUMIN (STUDIES III, IV AND V)

The levels of salivary albumin during a day in healthy adult subjects had not been studied earlier. Our results (study III) suggest that there is a statistically significant hourly within-subject variation in salivary albumin levels even in healthy adults, which is in agreement with earlier results (Butler et al., 1990). In this study we did not examine the oral or dental status of the subjects, so we do not know the degree of mucositis or gingival inflammation in the study subjects. However, we have good reason to believe that the oral health status of our study subjects was above average, as the subjects were dental or medical students and very motivated to take care of their oral health. Hence, it is important to notice that salivary albumin is detecteable even in a study group of this kind. In subject group C (study IV), the albumin levels (140  $\mu$ g/ml ± 114.6  $\mu$ g/ml) were somewhat lower than in the adults in study III (daily mean 167  $\sigma g/ml \pm 70.7 \mu g/ml;$  N.S). However, in subject group C the samplings were made after twelve hours fasting, which may have affected the results. It is also possible to compare the albumin levels of healthy adults (study III) with the those of elderly patients (study V). As was expected, the albumin levels were indeed higher in the hospitalized patients (survivors, mean 401.2  $\partial$  247  $\sigma$ g/ml; deceased 501.1 ± 417.3 µg/ml) than in outpatients (204.6  $\mu$ g/ml ± 179.5  $\mu$ g/ml; p < 0.001)) or than in healthy adults (daily mean 167  $\sigma$ g/ml ± 70.7  $\mu$ g/ml; p < 0.001). This supports the earlier results of salivary albumin levels in medically compromised patients (Henskens et al., 1996; Mellanen et al., 2001). The analytical procedures used in these studies (studies III, IV and V) were the same in our laboratory. Among the patients who died during the two-year follow-up, albumin concentrations were not

significantly higher than in those who survived. Nevertheless, there was a highly significant difference in salivary albumin between the hospitalized patients and outpatients in general, particularly when comparing those who died with the outpatients. The same was observed in the other salivary biochemical parameters analyzed. It is possible that salivary flow rate partly explains the variation in composition. Salivary flow rates were lower in hospitalized patients than in outpatients, but there was no difference in flow rates between the survivors and deceased patients. However, salivary albumin output was also significantly higher in hospitalized patients than in outpatients. A previous study found that the prevalence of dentogenic infection among the hospitalized patients in this study group was high (Meurman et al., 1997a), and this might have an influence on albumin levels.

When looking at the results of the logistic regression analysis (Table 19), dentate status and high age were clinically apparent explanatory factors which could explain the high salivary albumin concentration of the outpatients. Old age as such probably affects mucosal integrity and function of salivary glands, and dentate patients are prone to periodontal disease, which was the case also in this group. All these factors may cause leakage of serum components into the oral cavity. Ophthalmologic medicines were also one factor affecting the higher than median salivary albumin values in this analysis. Use of ophthalmological medicines is not an obvious factor, but it may indicate problems with dry eyes and these patients may also suffer from hyposalivation. On the other hand, the number of patients using ophthalmological medicines was rather low and the variation was wide.

In the hospitalized patients, however, the strongest explanatory factors were the use of analgesic drugs and, surprisingly, vitamin supplements, while salivary flow rate had a negative effect. The use of analgesics may relate to serious diseases calling for such a therapy. The use of vitamins is not so obvious in this context, although significantly more hospitalized patients than outpatients used vitamins. This may indicate a malnourished general status at the time of hospitalization, which then led to the administration of vitamin preparations. The number of patients using vitamin supplements was low, however, which also explains the large variation. The same holds true to patients suffering from neoplasia.

Finally, there are very little data on the contribution and function of the minor salivary glands regarding old age and systemic disease (excluding Sjögren's syndrome) so that albumin, for example, has not been analyzed in the secretions of these glands (Ferguson, 1999). But for practical reasons it was not possible in the this study to investigate biochemical constituents collected from glandular secretions. There is an obvious need for such a study in the future.

### 6.8. SALIVARY UREA (STUDIES IV AND V)

In healthy adult patients (study IV) salivary urea levels were 3.1 mmol/l  $\pm$  1.9 mmol/l after 12 hours fasting. The urea levels in healthy adults were significantly lower than in elderly subjects (study V; deceased hospitalized patients mean 8.0  $\pm$  4.8 mmol/l; outpatients mean 4.9  $\pm$  2.2 mmol/l, p < 0.001). It has earlier been suggested that salivary urea levels reflect the progression of renal dysfunction and may even serve as a diagnostic criterion (Khramov et al., 1994; Al Nowaiser et al., 2003). Our results are in agreement with these earlier findings, since in the study V patients were medically compromised elderly people.

Salivary urea level was statistically significantly higher in men than in women after 12 hours fasting (Table 13, p < 0.050). To our knowledge, there are no earlier reports on this. However, these are preliminary findings of differences between genders in salivary urea levels. More studies are needed to find out salivary urea concentrations in different patient groups and in genders.

#### 6.9. SUMMARY

To sum up, these studies confirmed that the patients' gender and systemic medication are the most important factors affecting salivary flow rates. Since other salivary parameters mainly depend on the secretion capacity, patients with reduced flow rate may suffer from inadequate buffering capacity and become liable to yeast infection, too.

Saliva has many diagnostic uses (Mandel, 1989), but there are a number of physiological and methodological factors affecting salivary diagnosis, which must always be taken into account. One of the most important is that the time of collection should be specified for diagnostic and research purposes. In the light of these studies it seems that salivary sampling times between 11:00 and 14:00 are recommended, since most of the studied variables were close to the daily mean at those time points. Our studies show that the within-subject variations of viscosity of unstimulated saliva, salivary IgA, albumin, amylase and total protein during a twelve-hour period were significant. The observed within-subject variations in these concentrations suggest that these proteins are subject to short-term variation. There were no differences in viscosimetric properties between fresh and 30 min old saliva samples stored at room temperature. Observed variation of viscosity of unstimulated saliva could be an indicator of changes in salivary glycoprotein secretion. In addition, rankings of subjects for total protein, amylase, albumin, lysozyme, IgA, IgM and IgG tended to be maintained across samplings.

GH was detected in saliva in tiny amounts, about 1900-fold less than in serum. However, there was a positive correlation between salivary and serum GH concentrations. Though this correlation was low and GH in plasma could not be inferred from salivary measurements. Further studies are called for to assess the role and function of GH in the oral cavity. Taking into account the very low concentration of this hormone detected in saliva, it is probable that salivary concentrations indeed reflect passive diffusion rather than active secretion to the mouth. Therefore, it can be assumed that aspects of oral health, such as the degree of periodontal and mucosal inflammation, may affect the concentration of GH detectable in saliva. Further studies are needed in this respect, too.

We found higher salivary albumin concentrations and albumin outputs in the frail elderly. More studies are also called for to find out how salivary diagnosis could be developed as an aid in clinical

decision making in future oral health assessments in the elderly. Salivary concentrations of serum proteins offer interesting perspectives in this regard.

# 7. CONCLUSIONS

1. The results emphasize the need for taking the patients' gender and systemic medication into account in all salivary diagnosis.

2. There was a significant within-subject variation in viscosity of unstimulated saliva. The results also emphasize the need to specify accurately the time of saliva collection.

3. Rankings of subjects for the salivary variables tended to be maintained across different samplings. The observed within-subject variations in salivary IgA, albumin, amylase and total protein concentrations suggest that these proteins are subject to short-term variation.

4. Salivary GH concentrations were 1900-fold lower than the respective values in serum but a positive correlation was found between salivary and serum GH levels.

5. There were significantly higher salivary albumin concentrations and albumin outputs in the frail elderly.

## 8. REFERENCES

Aguirre A, Mendoza B, Levine MJ, Hatton MN, Douglas WH. In vitro characterization of human salivary lubrication. Arch Oral Biol 34; 675-7, 1989.

Alexander JM, Hsu D, Penchuk L, Heinrich G. Cell-specific and developmental regulation of a nerve growth factor-human growth hormone fusion gene in transgenic mice. Neuron 3; 133-9, 1989.

Almståhl A, Wikström M, Groenink J. Lactoferrin, amylase and mucin MUC5B and their relation to the oral microflora in hyposalivation of different origins. Oral Microbiol Immunol 16; 345-52, 2001.

Al Nowaiser A, Roberts GJ, Trompeter RS, Wilson M, Lucas VS. Oral health in children with chronic renal failure. Pediatr Nephrol 18; 39-45, 2003.

Appel GB. Glomerular disorders. In: Cecil textbook of medicine. Editors Bennett JC, Plum F. Pp. 572-6. Saunders, Philadelphia, USA, 1996.

Atkinson JC, Wu AJ. Salivary gland dysfunction: causes, symptoms, treatment. J Am Dent Assoc 125; 409-16, 1994.

Axtelius B, Edwardsson S, Theodorsson E, Svensater G, Attstrom R. Presence of cortisol in gingival crevicular fluid. A pilot study. J Clin Periodontol 25; 929-32, 1998.

Bardow A, Moe D, Nyvad B, Nauntofte B. The buffer capacity and buffer systems of human whole saliva measured without loss of CO2. Arch Oral Biol 45; 1-12, 2000.

Baughan LW, Robertello FJ, Sarrett DC, Denny PA, Denny PC. Salivary mucin as related to oral *Streptococcus mutans* in elderly people. Oral Microbiol Immunol 15; 10-4, 2000.

Baum BJ. Evaluation of stimulated parotid saliva flow rate in different age groups. J Dent Res 60; 1292-96, 1981.

Baum BJ, Berkman JP, Marmary Y, Goldsmith CM, Baccaglini L, Wang S, Wellner RB, Hoque AT, Atkinson JC, Yamagishi H, Kagami H, Parlow AF, Chao J. Polarized secretion of transgene products from salivary glands in vivo. Human Gene Therapy 10; 2789-97, 1999.

Battino M, Ferreiro MS, Gallardo I, Newman HN, Bullon P. The antioxidant capacity of saliva. J Clin Periodontol 29; 189-94, 2002.

Becker KL, Bilezikian JP, Bremmer WJ, Hung W, Kahn CR, Loriaux DL, Rebar RW, Robertson GL, Wartofsky L. Principles and practice of endocrinology and metabolism. Lippincott, Philadelphia, USA, 1990.

Ben-Aryeh H, Serouya R, Kanter Y, Szargel R, Laufer D. Oral health and salivary composition in diabetic patients. J Diabetes Complications 7; 57-62, 1993.

Bennet KR, Reade PC. Salivary immunoglobulin A levels in normal subjects, tobacco smokers, and patients with minor aphtous ulceration. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 53; 461-5, 1982.

Bercier JG, Al-Hashimi I, Haghighat N, Rees TD, Oppenheim FG. Salivary histatins in patients with recurrent oral candidiasis. J Oral Pathol Med 28; 26-9, 1999.

Bergdahl M. Salivary flow and oral complaints in adult dental patients. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 28; 59-66, 2000.

Biesbrock AR, Dirksen T, Schuster G. Effects of tung oil on salivary viscosity and extent and incidence of dental caries in rats. Caries Res 26; 117-23, 1992.

Birkhed D, Heintze U. Salivary secretion rate, buffer capacity, and pH. In: Human saliva: clinical chemistry and microbiology. Volume I. Editor Tenovuo JO. Pp. 25-74. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, 1989.

Bowden GH. Does assessment of microbial composition of plaque/saliva allow for diagnosis of disease activity of individuals? Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 25; 76-81, 1997.

Brandtzaeg P. Salivary immunoglobulins. In: Human saliva: clinical chemistry and microbiology. Volume II. Editor Tenovuo JO. Pp. 2-54. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, 1989.

Brandtzaeg P, Berstad AE, Farstad IN, Haraldsen G, Helgeland L, Jahnsen FL, Johansen FE, Natvig IB, Nilsen EM, Rugtveit J. Mucosal immunity - a major adaptive defense mechanism. Behring Inst Mitt 98; 1-23, 1997.

Bratthall D, Carlsson J. Current status of caries activity tests. In: Textbook of Cariology. Editors Thylstrup A, Fejerskov O, Pp. 249-65. Munksgaard , Copenhagen, Denmark, 1986.

Bratthall D, Ericsson D. Tests for assessment of caries risk. In: Textbook of clinical cariology. Second edition. Editors Thylstrup A and Fejerskov O. Pp. 333-53, chapter 16. Munksgaard, Copenhagen, Denmark, 1994.

Bratthall D, Widerström L. Ups and downs for salivary IgA. Scand J Dent Res 93; 128-34, 1985.

Butler JE, Spradling JE, Rowat J, Ekstrand J, Challacombe SJ. Humoral immunity in root caries in an elderly population. II. Oral Microbiol Immunol 5; 113-20, 1990.

Cannon RD, Chaffin WL. Oral colonization by *Candida albicans*. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 10; 359-83, 1999.

Carlen A, Bratt P, Stenudd C, Olsson C, Strömberg N. Agglutinin and acidic proline-rich protein receptor patterns may modulate bacterial adherence and colonization on tooth surfaces. J Dent Res 77; 81-90, 1998.

Carlsson J, Hamilton I. Metabolic activity of oral bacteria. In: Textbook of clinical cariology. Second edition. Editors Thylstrup A and Fejerskov O. Pp. 71-88, chapter 4. Munksgaard, Copenhagen, Denmark, 1994.

Chimenos-Kustner E, Marques-Soares MS. Burning mouth and saliva. Med Oral 7; 244-53, 2002.

Christersson CE, Lindh L, Arnebrandt T. Film-forming properties and viscosities of saliva substitutes and human whole saliva. Eur J Oral Sci 108; 418-25, 2000.

Cohen RE, Aguirre A, Neiders ME, Levine MJ, Jones PC, Reddy MS, Haar JG. Immunochemistry and immunogenicity of low molecular weight human salivary mucin. Arch Oral Biol 36; 347-56, 1991.

Cook NJ, Ng A, Read GF, Harris B, Riad-Fahmy D. Salivary cortisol for monitoring adrenal activity during marathon runs. Hormone Res 25; 18-23, 1987.

Costigan DC, Guyda HJ, Posner BI. Free insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I) and IGF-II in human saliva. J Clin Endocrinol Metabol 66; 1014-8, 1988.

Cuida M, Halse AK, Johannesen AC, Tynning T, Jonsson R.: Indicators of salivary gland inflammation in primary Sjögren's syndrome. Eur J Oral Sci 105; 228-33, 1997.

Darwell BW, Clark RK. The physiological mechanisms of complete denture retention. Br Dent J, 189; 248-52, 2000.

Dawes C. Physiological factors affecting salivary flow rate, oral sugar clearance, and the sensation of dry mouth in man. J Dent Res 66; 648-53, 1987.

Dawes C. Salivary flow rate and composition. In: Saliva and oral health. Editors Edgar, WM and O'Mullane, DM. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. British Dental Association, London, 1996.

Dawes C, Cross HG, Baker CG, Chebib FS. The influence of gland size on the flow rate and composition of human parotid saliva. J Can Dent Assoc 44; 21-5, 1978.

Dawes C, Dibdin GH. Salivary concentrations of urea released from a chewing gum containing urea and how these affect the urea content of gel-stabilized plaques and their pH after exposure to sucrose. Caries Res 35; 344-53, 2001.

Dawes C, Ong BY. Circadian rhythms in the flow rate and proportional contribution of parotid to whole saliva volume in man. Arch Oral Biol 18; 1145-53, 1973.

Diacor. Kliiniset laboratoriotutkimukset. Toim. Lamberg M-L. Diacor Terveyspalvelut OY, Helsinki, 1992.

Dibdin GH, Dawes C. A mathematical model of the influence of salivary urea on the pH of fasted dental plaque and on the changes occurring during a cariogenic challenge. Caries Res 32; 70-4, 1998.

Douglas CW. Bacterial-protein interactions in the oral cavity. Adv Dent Res 8; 254-62, 1994.

Dowd FJ. Saliva and dental caries. Dent Clin North Am 43; 579-97, 1999.

Elson MK, Morley JE, Shafer RB. Salivary thyroxine as an estimate of free thyroxine: concise communication. J Nucl Med 24; 700-2, 1983.

Ericson D, Bratthall D. Simplified method to estimate salivary buffer capacity. Scand J Dent Res 97; 405-7, 1989.

Ericson T, Mäkinen KK. Saliva -formation, composition and possible role. In: Textbook of Cariology. Editors Thylstrup A, Fejerskov O. Pp. 28-45. Munksgaard, Copenhagen, Denmark, 1986.

Ericsson Y, Stjernström L. Saliva viscosity measurements. Oral Surg Med Pat 4; 1465-74, 1951.

Escolar Castellon JD, Escolar Castellon A, Roche Roche PA, Minana Amada C. Bronchialassociated lymphoid tissue (BALT) response to airway challenge with cigarette smoke, bovine antigen and anti-pulmonary serum. Histol Histopathol 7; 321-8, 1992.

Ferguson DB. Flow rate and composition of human labial gland saliva. Arch Oral Biol 40; S11-S4, 1999.

Ferguson DB, Botchway CA. Circadian variations in flow rate and composition of human stimulated submandibular saliva. Arch Oral Biol 24; 433-7, 1979.

Ferguson DB, Fort A. Circadian variations in human resting submandibular saliva flow rate and composition. Arch Oral Biol 19; 47-54, 1974.

Ferguson DB, Fort A, Elliott AL, Potts AJ. Circadian rhythms in human parotid saliva flow rate and composition. Arch Oral Biol 18; 1155-73, 1973.

Fischer HP, Eich W, Russell IJ. A possible role for saliva as a diagnostic fluid in patients with chronic pain. Semin Arthritis Rheum 27; 348-59, 1998.

Fischer D, Ship JA. Effect of age on variability of parotid salivary gland flow rates over time. Age Ageing 28; 557-61, 1999.

Fure S, Lingstrom P, Birkhed D. Effect of three months' frequent use of sugar-free chewing gum with and without urea on calculus formation. J Dent Res 77; 1630-7, 1998.

Ghezzi EM, Lange LA, Ship JA. Determination of variation of stimulated salivary flow rates. J Dent Res 79; 1874-8, 2000.

Gibbons RJ, Hay DI. Adsorbed salivary acidic proline-rich proteins contribute to the adhesion of *Streptococcus mutans* JBP to apatitic surfaces. J Dent Res 68; 1303-7, 1989.

Groschl M, Wagner R, Rauh M, Dorr HG. Stability of salivary steroids: the influence of storage, food and dental care. Steroids 66; 737-41, 2001.

Halimi S, Tepavcevic D, Suchanek D, Giljevic Z, Palvsic V, Korsic M. Measurement of salivary insulin-like growth factor in acromegaly: comparison with serum insulin-like growth factor-1 and growth hormone concentrations. Eur J Clin Chem Biochem 32; 705-7, 1994.

Hay DI, Ahern JM, Schluckebier SK, Schlesinger DH. Human salivary acidic proline-rich protein polymorphisms and biosynthesis studied by high-performance liquid chromatography. J Dent Res 73; 1717-26, 1994.

Hay DI, Bowen WH. The functions of salivary proteins. In: Saliva and oral health. Editors Edgar, WM and O'Mullane, DM. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. British Dental Asociation, London, UK, 1996.

Heintze U, Birkhed D, Björn H. Secretion rate and buffer effect of resting and stimulated whole saliva as a function of age and sex. Swed Dent J 7; 227-38, 1983.

Helenius T, Mäenpää J, Weber T. A sensitive radioimmunometric assay for human growth hormone in urine. Biochimica Clinica 13; suppl.1/8, 162, 1989.

Henskens YM, Strooker H, van der Keijbus PA, Veerman EC, Nieuw Amerongen AV. Salivary protein composition in epileptic patients on different medications. J Oral Pathol Med 25; 360 -6, 1996.

Henskens YM, van der Velden U, Veerman EC, Nieuw Amerongen AV. Protein, albumin and cystatin concentrations in saliva of healthy subjects and of patients with gingivitis or periodontitis. J Perio Res 28; 43-8, 1993.

Hofman LF. Human saliva as a diagnostic specimen. J Nutr 131; 1621S-5S, 2001.

Hoque AT, Baccaglini L, Baum BJ. Hydroxychloroquine enhances the endocrine secretion of adenovirus-directed growth hormone from rat submandibular glands in vivo. Hum Gene Ther 12; 1333-41, 2001.

Ingenito A, Catelani C, Mercaldo A, d'Agata A, Cappelli G, Andreoli F. Radioimmunoassay of gastrin in human saliva. Eur Surg Res 18; 129-32, 1986.

Izutsu KT, Truelove EL, Bleyer WA, Anderson WA, Schubert MM, Rice JC. Whole saliva albumin as an indicator of stomatitis in cancer therapy patients. Cancer 48; 1450-4, 1981.

Jainkittivong A, Johnson DA, Yeh CK. The relationship between salivary histatin levels and oral yeast carriage. Oral Microbiol Immunol 13; 181-7, 1998.

Jensen B, Bratthall D. A new method for the estimation of mutans streptococci in human saliva. J Dent Res 68; 468-71, 1989.

Jenzano JW, Brown CK, Mauriello SM. Temporal variations of glandular kallikrein, protein and amylase in mixed human saliva. Arch Oral Biol 32; 757-9, 1987.

Kalk WW, Vissink A, Stebenga B, Bootsma H, Nieuw Amerongen AV, Kallenberg CG. Sialometry and sialochemistry: a non-invasive approach for diagnosing Sjögren's syndrome. Ann Rheum Dis 61; 137-44, 2002.

Kaufman E, Lamster IB. Analysis of saliva for periodontal diagnosis-a review. J Clin Periodontol 27; 453-65, 2000.

Keller U, Schnell U, Girard J, Stauffacher W. Effect of physiological elevation of plasma growth hormone levels on ketone body kinetics and lipolysis in normal and acutely insulin-deficient man. Diabetologia 26; 103-8, 1984.

Khan SH, Aguirre A, Bobek LA. In-situ hybridization localized MUC7 mucin gene expression to the mucous acinar cells of human and MUC7-transgenic mouse salivary glands. Glycoconj J 15; 1125-32, 1998.

Khramov VA, Gavrikova LM, Koval' AA. Urea and ammonia in the saliva of patients with kidney diseases. Urol Nefrol 5; 41-3, 1994.

Kirschbaum C, Hellhammer DH. Salivary cortisol in psychobiological research: an overview. Neuropsychobiology 22; 150-69, 1989.

Kirstilä V, Häkkinen P, Jentsch H, Vilja P, Tenovuo J. Longitudinal analysis of the association of human salivary antimicrobial agents with caries increment and cariogenic micro-organisms: a two-year cohort study. J Dent Res 77; 73-80, 1998.

Knott C. Excretion of drugs into saliva. In: Human saliva: clinical chemistry and microbiology. Volume I. Editor Tenovuo JO. Pp. 177-201. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, 1989.

Kohavi D, Klinger A, Steinberg D, Mann E, Sela NM. Alpha-amylase and salivary albumin adsorption onto titanium, enamel and dentin: an in vivo study. Biomaterials 18; 903-6, 1997.

Koshlukova SE, Lloyd TL, Araujo MW, Edgerton M. Salivary histatin 5 induces non-lytic release of ATP from *Candida albicans* leading to cell death. J Biol Chem 274; 18872-9, 1999.

Lac G. Saliva assays in clinical and research biology. Pathol Biol 49; 660-7, 2001.

Lagerlof F, Oliveby A. Caries-protective factors in saliva. Adv Dent Res 8; 229-38, 1994.

Laine P, Meurman JH, Tenovuo J, Murtomaa H, Lindqvist C, Pyrhönen S, Teerenhovi L. Salivary flow and composition in lymphoma patients before, during and after treatment with cytostatic drugs. Oral Oncol Eur J Cancer 28B; 125-8, 1992.

Laine M, Pienihäkkinen K, Leimola-Virtanen R. The effect of repeated sampling on paraffinstimulated salivary flow rates in menopausal women. Arch Oral Biol 44; 93-5, 1999.

Lamkin MS, Arancillo AA, Oppenheim FG. Temporal and compositional characteristics of salivary protein adsorption to hydroxyapatite. J Dent Res 75; 803-8, 1996.

Lamont RJ, Demuth DR, Davis CA, Malamud D, Rosan B. Salivary-agglutinin-mediated adherence of *Streptococcus mutans* to early plaque bacteria. Infect Immun 59; 3446-50, 1991.

Larmas M. A new dip-slide method for the counting of salivary lactobacilli. Proc Finn Dent Soc 71; 31-5, 1975.

Larmas M. Saliva and dental caries: diagnostic tests for normal dental practice. Int Dent J 42; 199-208, 1992.

Lehtonen OP, Gråhn EM, Ståhlberg TH, Laitinen LA. Amount and avidity of salivary and serum antibodies against *Streptococcus mutans* in two groups of human subjects with different caries susceptibility. Infect Immun 43; 308-13, 1984.

Lenander-Lumikari M, Ihalin R, Lähteenoja H. Changes in whole saliva in patients with coeliac disease. Arch Oral Biol 45; 347-54, 2000.

Lenander - Lumikari M, Månsson - Rahemtulla B, Rahemtulla F. Lysozyme enhances the inhibitory effects of the peroxidase system of glucose metabolism on *Streptococcus mutans*. J Dent Res 71; 484-90, 1992.

Levine MJ, Aguirre A, Hatton MN, Tabak LA. Artificial salivas: Present and future. J Dent Res 66(Spec Iss); 693-8, 1987a.

Levine MJ, Reddy MS, Tabak LA, Loomis RE, Bergey EJ, Jones PC, Cohen RE, Stinson MW, Al-Hashimi I. Structural aspects of salivary glycoproteins. J Dent Res 66; 436-41, 1987b.

Li T, Khah MK, Slavnic S, Johansson I, Stromberg N. Different type 1 fimbrial genes and tropisms of commensal and potentially pathogenic Actinomyces spp with different salivary acidic prolinerich protein and statherin ligand specificities. Infect Immun 69; 7224-33, 2001.

Liu H, Delgado MR. Therapeutic drug concentration monitoring using saliva samples. Focus on anticonvulsants. Clin Pharmacokinet 36; 453-70, 1999.

Lockhart SR, Joly S, Vargas K, Swails-Wenger J, Enger L, Soll DR. Natural defenses against candida colonization breakdown in the oral cavities of the elderly. J Dent Res 78; 857-68, 1999.

Lowry OH, Rosebrough NJ, Farr AL, Randall RJ. Protein measurement with the Folin phenol reagent. J Biol Chem 193; 265-75, 1951.

Lu Y, Bennick A. Interaction of tannin with human salivary proline-rich proteins. Arch Oral Biol 43; 717-28, 1998.

Lutz H, Heppt W, Hittel JP, Adler D. Zur diagnostischen Wertigkeit der Sialochemie. Ergebnisse einer Albumin-Studie. Laryngo-Rhino-Otol 70; 187-90, 1991.

Madar R, Straka S, Baska T. Detection of antibodies in saliva-an effective auxiliary method in surveillance of infectious diseases. Bratisl Lek Listy 103; 38-41, 2002.

Makkonen TA, Boström P, Vilja P, Joensuu H. Sucralfate mouth washing in the prevention of radiation-induced mucositis: A placebo-controlled double-blind randomized study. Int J Rad Oncol Biol Phys 30; 177-82, 1994.

Mandel ID. Sialochemistry in diseases and clinical situations affecting salivary glands. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci 12; 321-66, 1980.

Mandel ID. The role of saliva in maintaining oral homeostasis. J Am Dent Assoc 119: 298-304, 1989.

Mandel ID. The diagnostic use of saliva. J Oral Pathol Med 19; 119-25, 1990.

Mandel ID. Salivary diagnosis: more than a lick and a promise. J Am Dent Assoc 124; 5-7, 1993.

Massad JJ, Cagna DR. Removable prosthodontic therapy and xerostomia. Treatment considerations. Dent Today 21; 80-2, 84, 86-7, 2002.

McGurk M, Hanford L, Justice S, Metcalfe RA. The secretory characteristics of epidermal growth factor in human saliva. Arch Oral Biol 35; 653-9, 1990.

Mellanen L, Sorsa T, Lähdevirta J, Helenius M, Kari K, Meurman JH. Salivary albumin, total protein, IgA, IgG and IgM concentrations and occurrence of some periodontopathogens in HIV-infected patients: a 2-year follow-up study. J Oral Pathol Med 30; 553-9, 2001.

Mellema J, Holterman HJ, Waterman HA, Blom C. Rheological aspects of mucin-containing solutions and saliva substitutes. Biorheology 29; 231-49, 1992.

Meurman JH, Collin H-L, Niskanen L, Töyry J, Alakuijala P, Keinänen S, Uusitupa M. Saliva in non-insulin-dependent diabetic patients and control subjects. The role of autonomic nervous system. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 86; 69-76, 1998.

Meurman JH, Laine P, Lindqvist C, Pyrhönen S, Teerenhovi L. Effect of anticancer drugs on patients with and without initially reduced saliva flow. Oral Oncol Eur J Cancer 30B; 204 -8, 1994.

Meurman JH, Pajukoski H, Snellman S, Zeiler S, Sulkava R. Oral infections in home-living elderly patients admitted to an acute geriatric ward. J Dent Res 76; 1271-6, 1997a.

Meurman JH, Pyrhönen S, Teerenhovi L, Lindqvist C. Oral sources of septicemia in patients with malignancies. Eur J Cancer Oral Oncol 33; 389-97, 1997b.

Meurman JH, Rantonen PJF. Salivary flow rate, buffering capacity, and yeast counts in 187 consecutive adult patients from Kuopio, Finland. Scand J Dent Res 102; 229-34, 1994.

Meurman JH, Rantonen P, Pajukoski H, Sulkava R. Salivary albumin and other constituents and their relation to oral and general health in the elderly. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 94; 432-8, 2002.

Meyer P, Zechel T. Quantitative studies of lysozyme and phosphohexose isomerase enzymes in mixed saliva in oral squamous epithelial carcinoma. HNO 49; 626-9, 2001.

Miller GS, Kaplan AL, Guest GF, Cottone JA. Documenting medication use in adult dental patients: 1987-1991. J Am Dent Assoc 123; 41-8, 1992.

Mäkinen KK. Salivary enzymes. In: Human saliva: clinical chemistry and microbiology. Volume II. Editor Tenovuo JO. Pp. 93-120. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, 1989.

Navazesh M, Brightman VJ, Pogoda JM. Relationship of medical status, medications, and salivary flow rates in adults of different ages. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 81; 172-6, 1996.

Navazesh M, Christensen CM. A comparison of whole mouth resting and stimulated salivary measurement procedures. J Dent Res 61; 1158-62, 1982.

Navazesh M, Christensen C, Brightman V. Clinical criteria for the diagnosis of salivary gland hypofunction. J Dent Res 71; 1363-9, 1992a.

Navazesh M, Mulligan RA, Kipnis V, Denny PA, Denny PC. Comparison of whole saliva flow rates and mucin concentrations in healthy Caucasian young and aged adults. J Dent Res 71; 1275-78, 1992b.

Navazesh M, Wood GJ, Brightman VJ. Relationship between salivary flow rates and *Candida albicans* counts. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 80; 284-8, 1995.

Nederfors T. Xerostomia and hyposalivation. Adv Dent Res 14; 48-56, 2000.

Nederfors T, Isaksson R, Mornstad H, Dahllöf C. Prevalence of perceived symptoms of dry mouth in an adult Swedish population - relation to age, sex and pharmacotherapy. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 25; 211-6, 1997.

Newsholme EA, Leech AR. Biochemistry for the medical sciences, pp. 537-52. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, UK, 1983.

Niedermeier WH, Kramer R. Salivary secretion and denture retention. J Prosthet Dent 67; 211-6, 1992.

Nielsen PA, Mandel U, Therkildsen MH, Clausen H. Differential expression of human highmolecular-weight salivary mucin (MG1) and low-molecular-weight mucin (MG2). J Dent Res 75; 1820-6, 1996.

Noble RE. Salivary alpha-amylase and lysozyme levels: a non-invasive technique for measuring parotid vs. submandibular/sublingual gland activity. J Oral Sci 42; 83-6, 2000.

Nordbo H, Darwish S, Bhatnagar RS. Salivary viscosity and lubrication: influence of pH and calcium. Scand J Dent Res 92; 306-14, 1984.

Näpänkangas R, Salonen-Kemppi MA, Raustia AM. Longevity of fixed metal ceramic bridge prostheses: a clinical follow-up study. J Oral Rehabil 29; 140-5, 2002.

Närhi TO, Meurman JH, Ainamo A, Nevalainen JM, Schmidt-Kaunisaho KG, Siukosaari P, Valvanne J, Erkinjuntti T, Tilvis R, Mäkilä E. Association between salivary flow rate and the use of systemic medication among 76-, 81-, and 86-year old inhabitants in Helsinki, Finland. J Dent Res 71; 1875-80, 1992.

Närhi TO, Ainamo A, Meurman JH. Salivary yeasts, saliva and oral mucosa in the elderly. J Dent Res 72; 1009-14, 1993.

Närhi TO, Meurman JH, Ainamo A. Xerostomia and hyposalivation. Causes, consequences and treatment in the elderly. Drugs Aging 15; 103-116, 1999.

Oberg SG, Isutzu KT, Truelove EL. Human parotid saliva protein concentration: dependence on physiological factors. Am J Physiol 242; G231-G236, 1982.

Odds FC. Candida and candidosis: A review and bibliography. 2nd ed. Bailliere Tindall, London, UK, 1988.

Offner GD, Troxler RF. Heterogeneity of high-molecular-weight human salivary mucins. Adv Dent Res 14; 69-75, 2000.

Oppenheim FG. Preliminary observations on the presence and origin of serum albumin in human saliva. Helv Odontol Acta 14; 10-7, 1970.

Pajukoski H, Meurman JH, Snellman-Gröhn S, Sulkava R. Oral health in hospitalized and nonhospitalized community-dwelling elderly. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 88; 437-43, 1999.

Palenstein Helderman van WH. Lysozyme concentrations in the gingival crevice and at other oral sites in human subjects with and without gingivitis. Arch Oral Biol 21; 251-5, 1976.

Parvinen T. Stimulated saliva flow rate, pH and lactobacillus and yeast concentrations in persons with different types of dentition. Scand J Dent Res 92; 412-8, 1984.

Parvinen T, Larmas M. The relation of stimulated salivary flow rate and pH to lactobacillus and yeast concentrations in saliva. J Dent Res 60; 1929-35, 1981.

Parvinen T, Larmas M. Age dependency of stimulated salivary flow rate, pH, and lactobacillus and yeast concentrations. J Dent Res 61; 1052-55, 1982.

Parvinen T, Parvinen I, Larmas M. Stimulated salivary flow rate, pH and lactobacillus and yeast concentrations in medicated persons. Scand J Dent Res 92; 524-32, 1984.

Pasquier C, Bello PY, Gourney P, Puel J, Izopet J. A new generation of serum anti-HIV antibody immunocapture assay for saliva testing. Clin Diagn Virol 8; 195-7, 1997.

Pedersen AM, Bardow A, Beier Jensen S, Nauntofte B. Saliva and gastrointestinal functions of taste, mastication, swallowing and digestion. Oral Diseases 8; 117-29, 2002.

Percival RS, Challacombe SJ, Marsh PD. Flow rates of resting whole and stimulated parotid saliva in relation to age and gender. J Dent Res 73; 1416-20, 1994.

Persson RE, Izutsu KT, Truelove EL, Persson R. Differences in salivary flow rates using xerostomatic medications. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 70; 42-6, 1991.

Pharmaca Fennica. Lääketietokeskus, Helsinki, Finland, 2000.

Pinelli C, Serra MC, Loffredo LC. Efficacy of a dip slide test for mutans streptococci in caries risk assessment. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 29; 443-8, 2001.

Pizzo G, Barchiesi F, Falconi Di Francesco L, Giuliana G, Arzeni D, Milici ME, D'Angelo M, Scalise G. Genotyping and antifungal susceptibility of human subgingival *Candida albicans* isolates. Arch Oral Biol 47; 189-96, 2002.

Proctor GB, Carpenter GH. Chewing stimulates secretion of human salivary secretory immunoglobulin A. J Dent Res 80; 909-13, 2001.

Raff H, Homar PJ, Burns EA. Comparison of two methods for measuring salivary cortisol. Clin Chem 48; 207-8, 2002.

Rantonen PJF, Meurman JH. Viscosity of whole saliva. Acta Odont Scand 56; 210-4, 1998.

Rantonen PJF, Meurman JH. Correlations between total protein, lysozyme, immunoglobulins, amylase, and albumin in stimulated whole saliva during daytime. Acta Odont Scand 58; 160-5, 2000.

Rantonen PJF, Penttilä I, Meurman JH, Savolainen K, Närvänen S, Helenius T. Growth hormone and cortisol in serum and saliva. Acta Odont Scand 58; 299-303, 2000.

Rayment SA, Liu B, Offner GD, Oppenheim FG, Troxler RF. Immunoquantification of human salivary mucins MG1 and MG2 in stimulated whole saliva: factors influencing mucin levels. J Dent Res 79; 1765-72, 2000.

Read GF. Hormones in saliva. In: Human saliva: clinical chemistry and microbiology. Vol II. Editor Tenovuo JO. Pp. 165-69. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, 1989.

Roberts BJ. A study of the viscosity of saliva at different shear rates in dentate and edentulous patients. J Dent 4; 303-9, 1977.

Roberts BJ: Help for the dry mouth patient. J Dent 10; 226-34, 1982.

Rudney JD. Relationships between human parotid saliva lysozyme, lactoferrin, salivary peroxidase, and secretory immunoglobulin A in a large sample population. Arch Oral Biol 34; 499 -506, 1989.

Rudney JD, Kajander KC, Smith QT. Correlations between human salivary levels of lysozyme, lactoferrin, salivary peroxidase and secretory immunoglobulin A with different stimu latory states and over time. Arch Oral Biol 30; 765-71, 1985.

Rudney JD, Smith QT. Relationships between levels of lysozyme, lactoferrin, salivary peroxidase, and secretory immunoglobulin A in stimulated parotid saliva. Infect Immun 49; 469-75, 1985.

Sakki T, Knuuttila M. Controlled study of the association of smoking with lactobacilli, mutans streptococci and yeasts in saliva. Eur J Oral Sci 104; 619-22, 1996.

Salvolini E, Martarelli D, Di Giorgio R, Mazzanti L, Procaccini M, Curatola G. Age related modifications in human unstimulated whole saliva: a biochemical study. Aging 12; 445-8, 2000.

Samaranayake LP. Nutritional factors and oral candidosis. J Oral Pathol 15; 61-5, 1986.

Samaranayake YH, Samaranayake LP, Pow EH, Beena VT, Yeung KW. Antifungal effects of lysozyme and lactoferrin against genetically similar, sequential *Candida albicans* isolates from a

human immunodeficiency virus-infected southern Chinese cohort. J Clin Microbiol 39; 3296-302, 2001.

Scannapieco FA, Torres G, Levine MJ. Salivary alpha-amylase: role in dental plaque and caries formation. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 4; 301-7, 1993.

Schenkels LC, Veerman EC, Nieuw Amerongen AV. Biochemical composition of human saliva in relation to other mucosal fluids. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 6; 161-75, 1995.

Schiodt M, Atkinson JC, Greenspan D, Fox PC, Dodd CL, Daniels TE, Greenspan JS. Sialochemistry in human immunodeficiency virus associated salivary gland disease. J. Rheumatol 19; 26-9, 1992.

Schwarz WH: The rheology of saliva. J Dent Res 66; 660-4, 1987.

Seidel BM, Schubert S, Schulze B, Borte M. Secretory IgA, free secretory component and IgD in saliva of newborn infants. Early Hum Dev 62; 159-64, 2001.

Seidel BM, Schulze B, Kiess W, Vogtmann C, Borte M. Determination of secretory IgA and albumin in saliva of newborn infants. Biol Neonate 78; 183-90, 2000.

Shern RJ, Fox PC, Li SH. Influence on age on the secretory rates of the human minor salivary glands and whole saliva. Arch Oral Biol 38; 755-61, 1993.

Sissons CH, Wong L, Hancock EM, Cutress TW. pH gradients induced by urea metabolism in 'artificial mouth' microcosm plaques. Arch Oral Biol 39; 507-11, 1994.

Ship JA, Chavez EM, Gould KL, Henson BS, Sarmadi M. Evaluation and management of oral cancer. Home Hlth Care Consult 6; 2-12, 1999.

Ship JA, Fox PC, Baum BJ. How much saliva is enough? "Normal" function defined. J Am Dent Assoc 122; 63-9, 1991.

Smith PM. Mechanisms of secretion by salivary glands. In: Saliva and oral health. Editors Edgar, WM and O'Mullane, DM. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition. British Dental Association, London, UK, 1996.

Smith M, Whitehead E, O'Sullivan G, Reynolds F. A comparison of serum and saliva paracetamol concentrations. Br J Clin Pharmacol 31; 553-5, 1991.

Smith SI, Aweh AJ, Coker AO, Savage KO, Abosede DA, Oyedeji KS. Lactobacilli in human dental caries and saliva. Microbios 105; 77-85, 2001.

Sreebny LM. Recognition and treatment of salivary induced conditions. Int Dent J 39; 197-204, 1989.

Sreebny LM, Schwartz SS. Reference guide to drugs and dry mouth. Gerodontol 5; 75-99, 1986.

Sreebny LM, Schwartz SS. A reference guide to drugs and dry mouth  $-2^{nd}$  ed. Gerodontology 14; 33-47, 1997.

Sreebny LM, Valdini A. Xerostomia, Part I. Relationship to other oral symptoms and salivary gland hypofunction. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 66; 451-8, 1988.

Sreebny L, Zhu WX. Whole saliva and the diagnosis of Sjögren's syndrome: an evaluation of patients who complain of dry mouth and dry eyes. Gerodontology 13; 35-43, 1996.

Steerenberg PA, van Asperen IA, van Nieuw Amerongen A, Biewenga A, Mol D, Medema GJ. Salivary levels on immunoglobulin A in triathletes. Eur J Oral Sci 105; 305-9, 1997.

Stenderup A. Oral mycology. Acta Odontol Scand 48; 3-10, 1990.

Stenudd C, Nordlund A, Ryberg M, Johansson I, Kallestal C, Stromberg N. The association of bacterial adhesion with dental caries. J Dent Res 80; 2005-10, 2001.

Strahl RC, Welsh S, Strechfus CF. Salivary flow rates: a diagnostic aid in treatment planning of geriatric patients. Clinical Preventive Dentistry 12; 10-2, 1990.

Stutchell RN, Mandel ID. Studies of secretory IgA in caries-resistant and caries susceptible adults. Adv Exp Med Biol 107; 341-8, 1978.

Sweeney MP, Bagg J, Fell GS, Yip B. The relationship between micronutrient depletion and oral health in geriatrics. J Oral Pathol Med 23; 168-71, 1994.

Tabak LA. In defense of the oral cavity: structure, biosynthesis, and function of salivary mucins. Ann Rev Physiol 57; 547-64, 1995.

Tabak LA. A revolution in biomedical assessment: the development of salivary diagnostics. J Dent Educ 65; 1335-9, 2001.

Tarkkila L, Linna M, Tiitinen A, Lindqvist C, Meurman JH. Oral symptoms at menopause-the role of hormone replacement therapy. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 92; 276-80, 2001.

Tenovuo J. Nonimmunoglobulin defense factors in human saliva. In: Human saliva: clinical chemistry and microbiology. Editor Tenovuo JO. Vol II, Pp 55-61. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, 1989.

Tenovuo J. Antimicrobial function of human saliva-how important is it for oral health? Acta Odontol Scand 56; 250-6, 1998.

Tenovuo J, Gråhn E, Lehtonen O-P, Hyyppä T, Karhuvaara L, Vilja P. Antimicrobial factors in saliva: ontogeny and relation to oral health. J Dent Res 66; 475-9, 1987.

Tenovuo J, Lagerlöf F. Saliva. In: Textbook of clinical cariology. Second edition. Editors Thylstrup A and Fejerskov O. Pp. 17-43, chapter 2. Munksgaard, Copenhagen, Denmark, 1994.

Terrapon B, Mojon P, Mensi N, Cimasoni G. Salivary albumin of edentulous patients. Arch Oral Biol 41; 1183-5, 1996.

Thomsson KA, Prakobphol A, Leffler H, Reddy MS, Levine MJ, Fisher SJ, Hansson GC. The salivary mucin MG1 (Muc5b) carries a repertoire of unique oligosaccharides that is large and diverse. Glycobiology 12; 1-14, 2002.

Thorselius I, Emilson C-G, Österberg T. Salivary conditions and drug consumption in older age groups of elderly Swedish individuals. Gerodontics 4; 66-70, 1988.

Tsai H, Bobek LA. Human salivary histatins: promising anti-fungal therapeutic agents. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 9; 480-97, 1998.

Tyrrell JB, Aron DC, Forsham PH. Glucocorticoids & adrenal androgens. In: Basic & clinical endocrinology. 4<sup>th</sup> Edition. Editors Greenspan FS and Baxter JD. Pp. 307-46, chapter 6. Appleton & Lange, USA, 1994a.

Tyrrell JB, Findling JW, Aron DC. Hypothalamus and pituitary. In: Basic & clinical endocrinology. 4<sup>th</sup> Edition. Editors Greenspan FS and Baxter JD. Pp. 64-127, chapter 2. Appleton & Lange, USA, 1994b.

Vandenbussche M, Swinne D. Yeasts oral carriage in denture wearers. Mykosen 27; 431-5, 1983.

Van der Reijden WA, van der Kwaak JS, Veerman EC, Nieuw Amerongen AV. Analysis of the concentration and output of the whole salivary constituents in patients with Sjögren's syndrome. Eur J Oral Sci 104; 335-40, 1996.

Van der Reijden WA, Veerman ECI, Nieuw Amerongen AV. Shear rate dependent viscoelastic behavior of human glandular salivas. Biorheology 30; 141-52, 1993.

Van de Strate, BW, Harmsen MC, The TH, Sprenger HG, de Vries H, Eikelboom MC, Kuipers ME, Meijer DK, Swart PJ. Plasma lactoferrin levels are decreased in end-stage AIDS patients. Viral Immunol 12; 197-203, 1999.

Van Palenstein Helderman WH, Mikx FH, Van't Hof MA, Truin G, Kalsbeek H. The value of salivary bacterial counts as a supplement to past caries experience as caries predictor in children. Eur J Oral Sci 109; 312-5, 2001.

Vernejoux JM, Tunon de Lara JM, Villanueva P, Vuillemin L, Taytard A. Salivary IgE in allergic patients and normal donors. Int Arch Allergy Immunol 104; 101-3, 1994.

Von Meyer P, Vogt K, Kleber R-R. Zur Beeinflussung der Proteine des Parotisspeichels durch Alterund Geschlecht. Deutsche Zahn Mund Kieferheilkunde Zentraalbl Gesamte 60; 392-9, 1973.

Walker RF, Riad-Fahmy D, Read GF. Adrenal status assessed by direct immunoassay of cortisol in whole saliva or parotid fluid. Clin Chem 24; 1460, 1978.

Waterman HA, Blom C, Holterman HJ, 's-Gravenmade EJ, Mellema J. Rheological properties of human saliva. Arch Oral Biol 33; 589-96, 1988.

Webster D. The immediate reaction between bromocresol green and serum as a measure of albumin content. Clin Chem 23; 663-5, 1977.

Weisiger RA. Laboratory tests in liver disease. In: Cecil textbook of medicine. Editors Bennett JC, Plum F. P. 761. Saunders, Philadelphia, USA, 1996.

Westenberg HGM., van der Kleijn E, Oei TT de Zeeuw A. Kinetics of carbamazepine and carbamazepine-epoxide, determined by use of plasma and saliva. Clin Pharmacol Ther 23; 320-7, 1978.

Whelton H. Introduction: The anatomy and physiology of salivary glands. In: Saliva and oral health. Editors Edgar, WM and O'Mullane, DM. 2<sup>nd</sup> edition, British Dental Association, London, UK, 1996.

World Health Organization. Guide to epidemiology and diagnosis of oral mucosal diseases and conditions. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 8; 1-26, 1980.

World Health Organization. Oral health surveys: basic methods. 3rd ed. Geneva, WHO, 1987.

World Health Organization. Application of the International Classification of Diseases to Dentistry and Stomatology. Third Edition. Geneva, WHO, 1995.

Wotman S, Goodwin FJ, Mandel ID, Laragh JH. Changes in salivary electrolytes following treatment of primary aldosteronism. Arch Intern Med 124; 477-81, 1969.

Wright HR, Lack LC. Effect of light wavelength on suppression and phase delay of the melatonin rhythm. Chronobiol Int 18; 801-8, 2001.

Wroblowski K, Muhandiram R, Chakrabartty A, Bennick A. The molecular interaction of human salivary histatins with polyphenolic compounds. Eur J Biochem 268; 4384-97, 2001.

Yan Q, Bennick A. Identification of histatins as tannin-binding proteins in human saliva. Biochem J 311; 341-7, 1995.

Yao Y, Grogan J, Zehnder M, Lendenmann U, Nam B, Wu Z, Costello CE, Oppenheim FG. Compositional analysis of human acquired enamel pellicle by mass spectrometry. Arch Oral Biol 46; 293-303, 2001.

Yeh CK, Johnson DA, Dodds MW. Impact of aging on human salivary gland function: a community based study. Aging 10; 421-8, 1998.

Yoshihara A, Hanada N, Miyazaki H. Association between serum albumin and root caries in community-dwelling older adults. J Dent Res 82; 218-22, 2003.

Zee KY, Samaranayake LP, Attstrom R. Salivary immunoglobulin A levels in rapid and slow plaque formers: a pilot study. Microbios 106; suppl 2, 81-7, 2001.



UNIVERSITY OF HELSINKI INSTITUTE OF DENTISTRY

ISBN 952-91-5941-2 (paperback) ISBN 952-10-1214-5 (PDF) Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2003